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Item 2.02. Results of Operations and Financial Condition.

On August 14, 2012, NeoStem, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company” or “NeoStem”), issued a press release relating to, among other things, the
results of the Company's second fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2012, updates as to various matters including a progress report on the divestiture of the
Company's 51% interest in Erye, the status of the Company's cell therapy business and additional business highlights. A copy of this press release is attached
as Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and is incorporated into this Item 2.02 by reference.

In accordance with General Instruction B.2 of Form 8-K, the information in this Item 2.02 of this Current Report on Form 8-K, including Exhibit 99.3,
shall not be deemed “filed” for the purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to
the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such a filing.

Item 8.01. Other Events.

On June 18, 2012, NeoStem, Inc. (the “Company” or “NeoStem”) announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement (the “Equity Purchase
Agreement”) to sell its 51% interest (the “Erye Sale”) in Suzhou Erye Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Erye”) for $12,280,000 in cash and the return to the
Company of (i) 1,040,000 shares of the Company's common stock and (ii) the cancellation of 1,170,000 options and 640,000 warrants to purchase shares of
the Company's common stock. The closing of the transaction is expected to occur by the fourth quarter of 2012, subject the satisfaction of certain conditions
including the receipt of certain PRC regulatory approvals. Also as previously reported, the Company took steps to restrict, and ultimately eliminate, its
regenerative medicine business in the People's Republic of China (“China” or the “PRC”). Our Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China segment and our
Regenerative Medicine - China segment have each therefore been classified as discontinued operations, as reported in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2012.

We are filing this Current Report on Form 8-K to update the historical consolidated financial statements and Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 (the
“2011 Form 10-K”) to reflect the reclassification of our Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China and Regenerative Medicine - China segments as discontinued
operations on a retroactive basis for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. The information in this Current Report on Form 8-K does not constitute an
amendment to the 2011 Form 10-K or a restatement of the financial statements contained therein.

The following items of the 2011 Form 10-K are hereby being retrospectively adjusted to reflect the impact of accounting for our Pharmaceutical
Manufacturing - China and Regenerative Medicine - China segments as discontinued operations for the periods set forth above:

« PartII, Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations; and
»  PartII, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

This Current Report on Form 8-K does not reflect events occurring after the filing of the original 2011 Form 10-K, and does not modify or update
the disclosures therein in any way, other than as required to reflect the changes in discontinued operations, and as required pursuant to the adoption
of ASU 2011-05 to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income and the components of other comprehensive income
either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. In particular, except for matters
noted above affecting changes in presentation, no other information in the 2011 Form 10-K is being updated for events or developments that
occurred subsequent to the filing of the 2011 Form 10-K on March 20, 2012. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, except for the matters
specifically noted above, this report does not purport to update the Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations or Note 14 (“Subsequent Events”) contained in the 2011 Form 10-K for any information, uncertainties, transactions, proceedings, risks,
events or trends occurring or known to management. More current information is contained in the Company's subsequent filings with the SEC,
including the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012.



Forward Looking Statements

This Current Report on Form 8-K, including Exhibit 99.1 hereto, contains “forward-looking” statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are typically preceded by words such as “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “will,”
“may,” “should,” or similar expressions, although some forward-looking statements are expressed differently. Forward-looking statements represent the
Company's management judgment regarding future events. Although the Company believes the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are
reasonable, the Company can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. All statements other than the statements of historical fact
included in this Current Report on Form 8-K are forward-looking statements. The Company cannot guarantee the accuracy of the forward-looking
statements, and you should be aware that the Company's actual results could differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements due to a
number of factors, including the statements under “Risk Factors” contained or referenced in the Company’s reports filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Important factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to, satisfaction of requisite closing conditions, including PRC
approvals, for the Erye Sale, and the risk that the Erye Sale may not be completed in a timely manner or at all (such as if all closing conditions are not
satisfied or if the Purchasers exercise their right to terminate prior to the MOFCOM Transfer Submission date or September 30, 2012 due to lack of financing
or otherwise), and other factors identified from time to time in the Company's periodic filings with the SEC. NeoStem does not undertake any obligation to
release publicly any revisions to such forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events.

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.
(d) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed with this Current Report on Form 8-K:

Exhibit No. Description

23.1 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

23.2 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

99.1 2011 Form 10-K Part II, Item 7 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
99.2 2011 Form 10-K Part II, Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

99.3 Press Release dated August 14, 2012*

* Exhibit 99.3 is furnished with this Current Report on Form 8-K.



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
hereunto duly authorized.

NEOSTEM, INC.

By: /s/ Catherine M. Vaczy

Name: Catherine M. Vaczy, Esq.
Title: Vice President and General Counsel

Dated: August 14, 2012



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our report dated March 20, 2012 (except for Notes 3 and 11, as to which the date is August 14, 2012), with respect to the consolidated
financial statements of NeoStem, Inc. and subsidiaries included in this Current Report on Form 8-K, dated August 14, 2012, of NeoStem, Inc. We hereby
consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statements of NeoStem, Inc. on Forms S-3 (File No. 333-145988, effective
September 27, 2007; File No. 333-166169, effective May 11, 2010; File No. 333-173853, effective September 30, 2011; and File No. 333-173855, effective
June 13, 2011) and on Forms S-8 (File No. 333-107438, effective May 24, 2007; File No. 333-144265, effective July 2, 2007; File No. 333-159282, effective
October 29, 2009; File No. 333-162733, effective October 29, 2009; File No. 333-173854, effective May 2, 2012; and File No. 333-181365, effective May 11,
2012).

/s GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
August 14, 2012



EXHIBIT 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-107438, 333-144265, 333-159282, 333-162733, 333-173854
and 333-181365 on Form S-8 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-145988, 333-166169, 333-173853 and 333-173855 on Form S-3 of our
report dated April 5, 2011, relating to the 2010 financial statements (before retrospective adjustments to the financial statements and financial
statement disclosures) of NeoStem, Inc. and subsidiaries (not presented herein), (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an
explanatory paragraph relating to the fact that Deloitte & Touche LLP was not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to (1) the
adjustments to retrospectively apply the change in accounting related to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting
Standards Update 2011-05, “Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) - Presentation of Comprehensive Income” and (2) the retrospective
adjustments for the discontinued operations discussed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, does not express an
opinion or any other form of assurance about whether such retrospective adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied),
appearing in this Current Report on Form 8-K of NeoStem, Inc.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
August 14, 2012



EXHIBIT 99.1
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various
factors, including those set forth under “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this annual
report. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included in Item 8 of this
annual report.

Overview

NeoStem, Inc. is an international biopharmaceutical company. In 2011, we operated our business in three reportable segments: (i) Cell Therapy — United
States; (ii) Regenerative Medicine — China; and (iii) Pharmaceutical Manufacturing — China. Effective March 31, 2012, we committed to discontinue
operations in the Regenerative Medicine - China reportable segment, and on June 18, 2012, we also announced an agreement to sell our 51% interest in
Suzhou Erye, which represented the operations in our Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China segment. We have recast certain information to classify the
results of operations, assets and liabilities of the Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China and Regenerative Medicine - China segments as discontinued
operations (see Note 11). As a result, the Company currently operates in a single reporting segment.

We are focused on the development of proprietary cellular therapies in cardiovascular disease, immunology and regenerative medicine and becoming a
single source for collection, storage, manufacturing, therapeutic development and transportation of cells for cell based medicine and regenerative science. We
also are a provider of adult stem cell collection, processing and storage services in the U.S., enabling healthy individuals to donate and store their stem cells
for personal therapeutic use. In addition, the Company collects and stores cord blood cells of newborns which help to ensure a supply of autologous stem cells
for the child should they be needed for future medical treatment.

We strengthened our expertise in cellular therapies with our January 19, 2011 acquisition of Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“PCT”). PCT is engaged in a wide range of services in the cell therapy market for the treatment of human disease, including, but not limited to
contract manufacturing, product and process development, regulatory consulting, product characterization and comparability, and storage, distribution,
manufacturing and transportation of cell therapy products. PCT’s legacy business relationships also afford NeoStem introductions to innovative therapeutic
programs.

In March 2011, PCT’s wholly owned subsidiary, Athelos, Inc. (Athelos), acquired rights and technology for a T-cell based immunomodulatory
therapeutic in exchange for an approximate 20% interest in Athelos.

We further strengthened our breadth in cellular therapies through our October 17, 2011 acquisition of Amorcyte, Inc. Amorcyte is a development stage
cell therapy company focusing on novel treatments for cardiovascular disease. Amorcyte’s lead product candidate is AMR-001. In January 2012, Amorcyte

enrolled its first patient in our PreSERVE Phase 2 trial to investigate AMR-001’s ability to preserve heart function after a heart attack.

We view the PCT and Amorcyte acquisitions as fundamental to building a foundation in achieving our strategic mission of capturing the paradigm shift
to cell therapy.

To support our liquidity needs, the Company raised an aggregate of approximately $21.2 million through the issuance of common stock and warrants
through private placements and a public offering in 2011. In February 2012, the Company raised an aggregate of approximately $2.25 million in a private
placement of common stock.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2010
Revenues
For the year ended December 31, 2011, total revenues were approximately $10.1 million compared to $0.2 million for the year ended December 31,

2010. The increase was primarily due to revenues generated by PCT which was acquired in January 2011, and whose revenues totaled approximately $9.7
million. For the year ended December 31, 2011, the cost of revenue was approximately $8.6 million, representing the cost of revenue for PCT.



Operating Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2011 operating expenses totaled $35.4 million compared to $26.0 million the year ended December 31, 2010,
representing an increase of $9.4 million or 36%.

Historically, to minimize our use of cash, we have used a variety of equity and equity-linked instruments to pay for services and to incentivize
employees, consultants and other service providers. The use of these instruments has resulted in significant charges to the results of operations. In general,
these equity and equity-linked instruments were used to pay for employee and consultant compensation, director fees, marketing services, investor relations
and other activities. For the year ended December 31, 2011 the use of equity and equity-linked instruments to pay for such expenses resulted in charges to
selling, general, and administrative, and research and development expenses totaling $9.8 million representing an increase of $2.5 million from the year ended
December 31, 2010.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, our selling, general, and administrative expenses were approximately $27.7 million compared to approximately
$19.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, representing an increase of approximately $8.2 million or 42%. Equity-based compensation included in
selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 was approximately $8.9 million, compared to approximately $6.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2010, representing an increase of approximately $2.6 million, which included approximately $0.7 million related to the
modification of stock option awards to our CEO in April 2011. Selling, general and administrative expenses also increased due to (i) an increase of
approximately $4.5 million related to new operating expenses as a result of our acquisition of PCT; (ii) an increase of approximately $1.8 million in legal,
accounting, and other professional fees, including expenses relating to the Company’s strategic shift towards cell therapy initiatives; (iii) an increase of
approximately $0.6 million due to a one-time contribution paid in equity during the three months ended March 31, 2011 to a foundation for which our CEO is
President and Trustee, General Counsel is Secretary and Trustee and CFO is Treasurer; and (iv) an increase of approximately $1.0 million related to other
administrative activities. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of approximately $2.2 million in selling and marketing expenses in connection
with our adult stem cell collection efforts.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, our research and development expenses were $7.7 million compared to $6.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2010, representing an increase of approximately $1.7 million or 29%. Equity-based compensation included in research and development expenses for the
year ended December 31, 2011 was approximately $0.9 million, compared to approximately $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. Overall, the
increase in research and development expenses was primarily due to an in-process research and development charge of approximately $1.2 million related to
the acquisition of certain intellectual properties in the area of T-Cell regulation from Becton, Dickinson and Company in March 2011.

Other Income and Expense

For the year ended December 31, 2011 interest expense was $2.6 million compared with $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, an increase
of $2.3 million. The increase was primarily due to (i) an increase in amortization of debt discount related to the Series E Preferred Stock of $2.4 million.

Other income (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2011 totaled approximately $2.1 million of other income. Other income in 2011 was
primarily related to the revaluation of derivative liabilities of $2.1 million established in connection with the Convertible Redeemable Series E Preferred
Stock.

Other income (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2010 totaled approximately $0.3 million of other income. Included in other income and
expense in 2010 was other income of $0.7 million due to a settlement agreement reached with a business partner involved in the development of the platform
research organization in China, whereby the business partner relinquished rights to certain shares of our common stock. The Company valued the shares at
their fair market value on the day the shares were relinquished. Also included in other income and expense in 2010 was $0.1 million in expense for fair value
adjustments on derivative liabilities related to the Company’s Series E Preferred Stock issuance in November 2010 and other outstanding warrants.

Discontinued Operations

Regenerative Medicine - China segment

In 2009, the Company began its Regenerative Medicine-China business in the People's Republic of China (“China” or “PRC”)



through its subsidiary, a wholly foreign owned entity (“WFOE”) and entered into contractual arrangements with certain variable interest entities (“VIEs”).
Foreign companies have commonly used VIE structures to operate in the PRC, and while such structures are not uncommon, recently they have drawn greater
scrutiny from the local Chinese business community in the PRC who have urged the PRC State Council to more tightly regulate these structures. In addition,
in December 2011, China's Ministry of Health announced its intention to more tightly regulate stem cell clinical trials and stem cell therapeutic treatments in
the PRC, which has created uncertainty regarding the ultimate regulatory environment in the PRC. Accordingly, the Company took steps to restrict, and
ultimately eliminated, its regenerative medicine business in the PRC. In the first quarter of 2012, the Company concluded that as a result of these steps, the
operations in its Regenerative Medicine-China business were discontinued. The Company has determined that any liability arising from the activities of the

WFOE and the VIEs will likely be limited to the net assets currently held by each entity.

The operations and cash flows of the Regenerative Medicine - China business will be eliminated from ongoing operations as a result of our exit decision.
The Company expects to have no continuing involvement in this business going forward. The operating results of the Regenerative Medicine - China business
for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, which are included in discontinued operations, were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010
Revenue $ 2743 $ 55.9
Cost of revenues (140.6) (36.0)
Research and development (378.3) (112.4)
Selling, general, and administrative (3,089.9) (1,408.2)
Other income (expense) 9.7) (63.8)
Loss from discontinued operations $ (3,344.2) $ (1,564.5)

The summary of the assets and liabilities related to discontinued operations as of December 31, 2011 and 2010,

thousands):

December 31,
2011 2010
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1033 $ 2,308.4
Accounts receivable, net — 26.2
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 284.4 214.5
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,256.8 2,331.6
Other Assets 149.0 69.1
$ 1,7935 $ 4,949.8
Accounts payable $ 1778 $ 53.5
Accrued liabilities 31.0 29.3
$ 2088 $ 82.8

Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China segment

respectively, were as follows (in

On June 18, 2012, we announced that we had entered into a definitive agreement to sell our 51% interest in Erye for approximately $12.3 million in cash
and the return to the Company of (i) 1,040,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock and (ii) the cancellation of 1,170,000 options and 640,000 Common
Stock warrants. The closing of the transaction is subject to satisfaction of certain conditions. Closing of the transaction is expected to occur by the fourth

quarter of 2012.

The operations and cash flows of the Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China business will be eliminated from ongoing operations with the sale of our 51%
interest in Erye. The operating results of the Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China business for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, which are

included in discontinued operations, were as follows (in thousands):



Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010
Revenue $ 63,3936 $ 69,584.3
Cost of revenues (47,186.8) (49,639.4)
Research and development (2,904.1) (1,564.0)
Selling, general, and administrative (11,068.2) (9,905.0)
Goodwill impairment (19,432.7) —
Other income (expense) (1,081.4) 51.9
Provision for income taxes (392.8) (550.9)
Loss from discontinued operations $ (18,672.4) $ 7,976.9

The summary of the assets and liabilities related to discontinued operations as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, were as follows (in
thousands):

December 31,
2011 2010
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,707.0 $ 4,834.9
Restricted cash — 3,381.4
Accounts receivable, net 5,525.7 5,817.1
Inventory 16,505.7 21,023.4
Deferred income taxes 463.7 —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 777.5 457.2
Property, plant and equipment, net 36,490.4 34,231.2
Land use rights, net 4,872.4 4,807.8
Goodwill 8,495.7 27,002.0
Intangible assets, net 21,846.4 23,903.2
Other Assets 2,459.9 —

$ 106,1444  $ 125,458.2

Accounts payable $ 7,950.3 $ 13,637.8
Accrued liabilities 1,705.8 2,067.8
Bank loans 15,712.0 3,034.0
Notes payable — 9,451.5
Income tax payable 621.6 1,242.9
Deferred income taxes 6,177.4 6,191.6
Unearned revenue 1,315.4 1,648.9
Amount due from related parties 20,862.7 8,301.4

$ 54,3452 $ 45,575.9

Noncontrolling Interests

In connection with accounting for the Company’s 51% interest in Erye, which is reported in discontinued operations, we account for the 49% minority
shareholder share of Erye’s net income or loss with a charge to Noncontrolling Interests. For the year ended December 31, 2011 Erye’s minority shareholders’
share of net loss totaled approximately $9.1 million. For the year ended December 31, 2010, Erye’s minority shareholders’ share of net income totaled
approximately $3.9 million. In addition, the Company acquired rights to use patents under licenses from Becton, Dickinson and Company in March 2011, in
exchange for an approximately 20% interest in PCT’s Athelos subsidiary. Noncontrolling interest also reflects Becton’s share of losses incurred by Athelos
during the year ended December 301 2011 of approximately $0.3 million.

Preferred Dividends
The Convertible Redeemable Series E Preferred Stock calls for annual dividends of 7% based on the stated value of the



preferred stock and for the year ended December 31, 2011 we recorded dividends of approximately $639,800. In the year ended December 31, 2010 the
Company recorded dividends of approximately $238,000, including $153,500 on the Convertible Redeemable Series C Preferred Stock which called for an
annual dividend of 5% based on the stated value of the preferred stock. The Convertible Redeemable Series C Preferred Stock was converted into NeoStem
Common Stock in May 2010.

Analysis of Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2011 we had a cash balance of approximately $3.9 million. During the year ended December 31, 2011, we met our immediate cash
requirements through existing cash balances, private placements and a public offering of our common stock and warrants, which in total, raised an aggregate
of approximately $21.2 million, and the use of equity and equity-linked instruments to pay for services and compensation.

We incurred a net loss from continuing operations of approximately $34.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. The following chart represents
the net funds provided by or used in operating, financing and investing activities from continuing operations for each period indicated (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010
Net cash used in operating activities - continuing operations $ (21,773.2) $ (18,677.1)
Net cash used in investing activities - continuing operations $ (251.4) $ (3,595.4)
Net cash provided by financing activities - continuing
operations $ 17,3299 $ 33,278.8

Operating Activities

Our cash used for operating activities from continuing operations in the year ended December 31, 2011 totaled approximately $21.8 million, which is the
sum of (i) our net loss from continuing operations, adjusted for non-cash expenses totaling $20.8 million (which includes adjustments for common stock,
common stock options and common stock purchase warrants issued for services rendered and charitable contribution in the aggregate amount of
approximately $10.3 million, depreciation and amortization of approximately $1.4 million, the write-off of in process research and development of
approximately $1.2 million, amortization of Preferred Stock discount and issuance cost of approximately $2.4 million, and (ii) net outflows due to changes in
operating assets and liabilities of approximately $0.9 million.

Investing Activities
Our cash used in investing activities from continuing operations in the year ended December 31, 2011 totaled $0.3 million, comprising of net fixed asset
additions of approximately $0.6 million, offset by cash received in acquisitions of approximately $0.3 million.

Financing Activities

The Company raised an aggregate of approximately $6.3 million in a series of private placements consummated from March 2011 to July 2011 pursuant
to which 18 persons and entities acquired an aggregate of 4,938,125 shares of Common Stock (purchase price of $1.28 per share). The investors included
Steven. S. Myers (one of the Company’s directors) (who purchased 390,625 shares) and Dr. Andrew L. Pecora (the Chief Medical Officer of the Company’s
subsidiary PCT, who is now the Chief Medical Officer and a director of NeoStem, and the Chief Scientific Officer of Amorcyte) (who purchased 78,125
shares).

On July 22, 2011, the Company completed an underwritten offering of 13,750,000 units at a purchase price of $1.20 per unit, with each unit consisting of
one share of Common Stock and a five year warrant to purchase 0.75 of a share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.45 per share (the “Offering”).
The Company sold securities in the Offering under the Company’s previously filed shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (333-173855), which was
declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 13, 2011. Lazard Capital Markets LLC (“Lazard”) and JMP Securities LLC (“JMP”)
acted as representatives of the underwriters named in an Underwriting Agreement, dated as of July 19, 2011. The Company received gross proceeds of $16.5
million, prior to deducting underwriting discounts and offering expenses payable by the Company, for net proceeds of approximately $14.8 million.

Pursuant to the PCT Merger Agreement, NeoStem paid off PCT’s credit line with Northern New Jersey Cancer Associates (“NNJCA”), in an amount of
$3.0 million, shortly after the closing of the PCT Merger in January 2011. Dr. Andrew Pecora, who was PCT’s Chairman and CEO prior to the PCT Merger,
and who became PCT’s Chief Medical Officer on January 19, 2011 has served as Managing Partner of NNJCA since 1996.

Liquidity and Capital Requirements Outlook



Capital Requirements for Recent Expansion

NeoStem, Inc. acquired Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC (“PCT”), by means of a merger (the “PCT Merger”) of a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary
of NeoStem, with and into PCT pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 23, 2010 (the “PCT Agreement and Plan of Merger”).

Pursuant to the terms of the PCT Agreement and Plan of Merger, all of the membership interests of PCT outstanding immediately prior to the effective
time of the PCT Merger (the “Effective Time”) were converted into the right to receive, in the aggregate, 10,600,000 shares of the common stock of NeoStem
and warrants to purchase 3,000,000 shares of NeoStem Common Stock (the vesting of 1,000,000 of such warrants being subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions). Immediately after the PCT Merger closed, the Company made a payment of $3.0 million to repay certain indebtedness owed by PCT.

NeoStem, Inc. acquired Amorcyte, Inc. (“Amorcyte”), in October 2011, by means of a merger (the “Amorcyte Merger”) of a newly formed wholly-
owned subsidiary of NeoStem, with and into Amorcyte pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated July 13, 2011 (the “Amorcyte Agreement and
Plan of Merger”). Amorcyte is a development stage cell therapy company focusing on novel treatments for cardiovascular disease. Amorcyte’s lead product
candidate, AMR-001, commenced enrollment in January 2012 for a Phase 2 study for the treatment of acute myocardial infarction (AMI). Pursuant to the
terms of the Amorcyte Agreement and Plan of Merger, all of the outstanding equity interests of Amorcyte outstanding immediately prior to the effective time
of the Amorcyte Merger were converted into the right to receive, in the aggregate, 5,843,483 shares of Common Stock (currently being held in escrow for
eventual distribution to the former Amorcyte security holders, and subject to further adjustment, including in connection with any indemnification claims of
NeoStem), seven year warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,881,008 shares of Common Stock at $1.466 per share (the transfer of any shares issued upon
exercise of these warrants restricted until one year after the closing date), up to an additional 4,092,768 shares of Common Stock to be issued if and only if
specified AMR-001 milestones are achieved, and additional consideration in the form of an earn out based upon net revenues of AMR-001, if AMR-001 is
commercialized.

The Company expects to incur substantial additional costs in connection with its transition to a cell therapy development company. In particular,
Amorcyte is currently recruiting clinical trial sites for an expected 34 site, 160 patient, Phase 2 clinical trial for Amorcyte’s lead product candidate, AMR-001,
for the treatment of AMI. The trial began enrollment in January 2012, and is expected to cost approximately $14 million over the first two years and
anticipated to cost up to approximately $18 million over a five year period, inclusive of manufacturing costs.

Liquidity

We anticipate that we will take further steps to raise additional capital in order to (i) fund the development of advanced cell therapies in the U.S., (ii)
expand the PCT business and (iii) build the family banking business. To meet our short and long term liquidity needs, we currently expect to use a variety of
means that could include, but not be limited to, the use of existing cash balances, the use of our current or other equity lines, potential additional warrant
exercises, option exercises, issuances of other debt or equity securities in public or private financings, sale of assets and/or, ultimately, the growth of our
revenue generating activities. In addition, we will continue to seek as appropriate grants for scientific and clinical studies from the National Institutes of
Health, Department of Defense, and other governmental agencies and foundations, but there can be no assurance that we will be successful in qualifying for
or obtaining such grants. We also review and consider from time to time restructuring activities, including the potential divestiture of assets. In this regard, as
part of our plan to focus on capturing the paradigm shift to cell therapies following our January 2011 acquisition of PCT, we signed a definitive agreement on
June 18, 2012 to sell our 51% interest in Erye and anticipate we will have monetized our interests in Erye by the close of 2012.

We plan to devote our resources and management efforts to cell therapy manufacturing and development, and other related activities, including adult
stem cell collection and storage. We believe the October 2011 acquisition of Amorcyte described elsewhere herein is in keeping with this strategic mission.
We also believe that, with the divestiture of Erye, we will have additional capital needed to pursue the development of cell therapies.

To support our liquidity needs, the Company raised an aggregate of approximately $21.2 million through the issuance of common stock and warrants in
2011, including an underwritten offering whereby the Company received gross proceeds of $16.5 million, prior to deducting underwriting discounts and
offering expenses payable by the Company, for net proceeds of approximately $14.8 million. In August 2011, the Department of Defense (DOD) Peer
Reviewed Medical Research Program (PRMRP) of the Office of the Congressionally Directed Medical Research Programs (CDMRP) awarded NeoStem
approximately $1.8 million to be applied towards funding the Company's VSEL™ Technology, which award will support an investigation of a unique stem
cell population, Very Small Embryonic-Like (VSEL) stem cells, for its bone building and regenerative effects in the treatment of



osteoporosis. In addition, in September 2011 we entered into the Purchase Agreement with Aspire Capital which provided that, subject to certain terms and
conditions, Aspire Capital is committed to purchase up to $20 million of shares of the Company’s common stock over the 24-month term of that Agreement.
Also on September 28, 2011, the Company gave notice to Commerce Court Small Cap Value Fund, Ltd. (“Commerce Court”) of termination of the Common
Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of May 19, 2010 between the Company and Commerce Court. In February 2012, the Company raised $2.25 million from
the issuance of common stock.

Our “shelf” Registration Statement on Form S-3 was filed on May 2, 2011 pursuant to General Instruction I.B.1 of Form S-3, because the aggregate
market value of our common equity held by non-affiliates (our “public float”) exceeded $75 million as of the relevant measuring date. Our public float is now
less than $75 million, so as of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K our Company is now subject to General Instruction I.B.6 of Form S-3, which
means that as long as our public float remains below $75 million, the aggregate market value of securities sold by us or on our behalf pursuant to General
Instruction I.B.6 of Form S-3 during any period of 12 calendar months may be no more than one-third of our public float measured as of a date within 60 days
prior to each such sale.

While we continue to seek capital through a number of means, there can be no assurance that additional financing will be available on acceptable terms,
if at all, and our negotiating position in capital generating efforts may worsen as existing resources are used. Additional equity financing may be dilutive to
our stockholders; debt financing, if available, may involve significant cash payment obligations and covenants that restrict our ability to operate as a business,
our stock price may not reach levels necessary to induce option or warrant exercises, and asset sales may not be possible on terms we consider acceptable. If
we are unable to raise the funds necessary to meet our long-term liquidity needs, we may have to delay or discontinue the acquisition and development of cell
therapies, and/or the expansion of our business or raise funds on terms that we currently consider unfavorable.

At December 31, 2011, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $3.9 million. In addition we have $2.5 million recorded in other assets for
restricted cash associated with our Series E Preferred Stock, which is held in escrow and not available to meet current cash requirements. The trading volume
of our common stock, coupled with our history of operating losses and liquidity challenges, may make it difficult for us to raise capital on acceptable terms or
at all. The demand for the equity and debt of small cap biopharmaceutical companies like ours is dependent upon many factors, including the general state of
the financial markets. During times of extreme market volatility, capital may not be available on favorable terms, if at all. Our inability to obtain such
additional capital on acceptable terms could materially and adversely affect our business operations and ability to continue as a going concern.

Commitments and Contingencies

The following table reflects a summary of NeoStem’s significant contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2011 (in thousands):

Less than More than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3 -5 Years 5 Years
Long-Term Debt Obligations
Series E Preferred Stock(1) $ 7,0189 $ 50243 $ 11,9946 $ — % —
Mortgages Payable 3,635.0 190.1 414.9 462.4 2,567.6
Operating Lease Obligations 4,214.9 1,407.8 1,396.3 1,117.6 293.2

$ 14,868.8 $ 6,622.2 $ 3,805.8 $ 1,580.0 $ 2,860.8

(1) Amounts include dividends.

Under an agreement with an external clinical research organization (“CRO”), we will incur expenses relating to our AMR-001 Phase 2 clinical trial for
the treatment of AMI. The timing and amount of these disbursements are based on the achievement of certain milestones, patient enrollment, services
rendered or as expenses are incurred by the CRO and therefore, we cannot reasonably estimate the timing of these payments.

SEASONALITY
NeoStem does not believe that its operations are seasonal in nature.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
NeoStem does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.



CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make
estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates and
assumptions. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
could differ from these estimates.

An accounting policy is considered to be critical if it is important to the Company’s financial condition and results of operations and if it requires
management’s most difficult, subjective and complex judgments in its application. For a summary of all of the Company’s significant accounting policies, see
Note 2 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company expenses all share-based payment awards to employees and consultants, including grants of stock options, warrants, and restricted stock,
over the requisite service period based on the grant date fair value of the awards. For awards with performance-based vesting criteria, we estimate the
probability of achievement of the performance criteria and recognize compensation expense related to those awards expected to vest. The Company
determines the fair value of certain share based awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model which uses both historical and current market data to
estimate the fair value. This method incorporates various assumptions such as the risk-free interest rate, expected volatility, expected dividend yield and
expected life of the options or warrants. The fair value of our restricted stock and restricted stock units is based on the closing market price of our common
stock on the date of grant.

The Company estimates an expected dividend yield of zero because the Company has never paid cash dividends on its common stock and has no present
intention to pay cash dividends. Expected volatility is based on the Company’s historical stock prices using a mathematical formula to measure the standard
deviation of the change in the natural logarithm of the Company’s underlying stock price that is expected over a period of time commensurate with the
expected life of the share-based award. The risk-free interest rate is derived from the zero coupon rate on U.S. Treasury instruments for the expected life of
the share-based award. The expected life calculation is based on the actual life of historical share-based awards.

Share-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statement of operations is based on awards ultimately expected to vest. The guidance
requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates with a
cumulative catch up adjustment.

The Company evaluates the assumptions used to value share-based awards on a regular basis. If factors change and the Company employs different
assumptions, share-based compensation expense may differ significantly from what the Company has recorded in the past. If there are any modifications or
cancellations of share-based awards, the Company may be required to accelerate, increase or cancel any remaining, unrecognized share-based compensation
expense. To the extent that the Company grants any additional equity securities, its share-based compensation expense will increase by the fair value of the
additional grants. Compensation expense is only recognized for those awards that are expected to vest and therefore the Company estimates a forfeiture rate
and revises those estimates in subsequent periods if the actual forfeitures differs from the prior estimates. In addition, for awards with performance-based
vesting criteria, the Company estimates the probability of achievement of the performance criteria and recognizes compensation expense related to those
awards expected to vest. Compensation expense may be significantly impacted in the future to the extent the Company’s estimates differ from actual results.

Recognizing and Measuring Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in Business Combinations at Fair Value

We account for acquired businesses using the purchase method of accounting, which requires that assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recorded at
date of acquisition at their respective fair values. The consolidated financial statements and results of operations reflect an acquired business after the
completion of the acquisition. The fair value of the consideration paid, including contingent consideration, is assigned to the underlying net assets of the
acquired business based on their respective fair values. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. Beginning in 2009, amounts allocated to IPR&D are included on the balance sheet (refer to discussion above in “Goodwill and Intangible Assets
with Indefinite Lives”). Intangible assets, including IPR&D assets upon successful completion of the project and approval of the product, are amortized on a
straight-line basis to amortization expense over the expected life of the asset. Significant judgments are used in determining the estimated fair values assigned
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and in determining estimates of useful lives of long-lived assets. Fair value determinations and useful life
estimates are based on, among other factors, estimates of expected future net cash flows, estimates of appropriate discount rates used to present value
expected future net cash flow streams, the timing of approvals for IPR&D projects and the timing of related product launch dates, the assessment of each
asset’s life cycle, the impact of competitive trends on each asset’s life cycle and other factors. These judgments can materially impact the



estimates used to allocate acquisition date fair values to assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the resulting timing and amount of amounts charged to, or
recognized in current and future operating results. For these and other reasons, actual results may vary significantly from estimated results.

The Company determines the acquisition date fair value of contingent consideration obligations based on a probability-weighted income approach
derived from revenue estimates, post-tax gross profit levels and a probability assessment with respect to the likelihood of achieving contingent obligations
including contingent payments such as milestone obligations, royalty obligations and contract earn-out criteria, where applicable. The fair value measurement
is based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represents a Level 3 measurement as defined in fair value measurement accounting. The
resultant probability-weighted cash flows are discounted using an appropriate effective annual interest rate. At each reporting date, the contingent
consideration obligation will be revalued to estimated fair value and changes in fair value will be reflected as income or expense in our consolidated statement
of operations. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration obligations may result from changes in discount periods and rates, changes in the
timing and amount of revenue estimates and changes in probability assumptions with respect to the likelihood of achieving the various contingent payment
obligations. Adverse changes in assumptions utilized in our contingent consideration fair value estimates could result in an increase in our contingent
consideration obligation and a corresponding charge to operating income.

Impairments of Long-Lived Assets
The Company assesses changes in economic, regulatory and legal conditions and makes assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows in evaluating
the value of the Company’s property, plant and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets.

The Company periodically evaluates whether current facts or circumstances indicate that the carrying values of its long-lived assets to be held and used
may not be recoverable. If such circumstances are determined to exist, an estimate of the undiscounted future cash flows of these assets, or appropriate asset
groupings, is compared to the carrying value to determine whether an impairment exists. If the asset is determined to be impaired, the loss is measured based
on the difference between the asset’s fair value and its carrying value. If quoted market prices are not available, the Company will estimate fair value using a
discounted value of estimated future cash flows approach.

The Company tests its goodwill for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if impairment indicators exist, using a fair value based test. Goodwill
represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of net assets of businesses purchased and is assigned to reporting units. Other
acquired intangibles (excluding In process R&D) are recorded at fair value and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. When
events or circumstances warrant a review, the Company will assess recoverability from future operations using pretax undiscounted cash flows derived from
the lowest appropriate asset groupings. Impairments are recognized in operating results to the extent that the carrying value of the intangible asset exceeds its
fair value, which is determined based on the net present value of estimated cash flows.

The Company tests its indefinite-lived intangibles, including In process R&D, for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if impairment
indicators exist, through a one-step test that compares the fair value of the indefinite lived intangible asset with the asset’s carrying value. For impairment
testing purposes, the Company may combine separately recorded indefinite-lived intangible assets into one unit of accounting based on the relevant facts and
circumstances. Generally, the Company will combine indefinite-lived intangible assets for testing purposes if they operate as a single asset and are essentially
inseparable. If the fair value is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized within the Company’s operating results.

Revenue Recognition

Clinical Services: The Company recognizes revenue for its cell development and manufacturing services based on the terms of individual contracts. Cell
development services generally contain multiple stages, which the Company evaluates for multiple elements. Each stage does not have stand-alone value and
are dependent upon one another; therefore the Company recognizes revenue on a completed contract basis. Manufacturing services represent separate and
distinct arrangements, and the Company is paid for time and materials or for fixed monthly amounts and revenue is recognized when efforts are expended or
contractual terms have been met.

Clinical Services Reimbursements: The Company separately charges the customers for reimbursable expenses that are specified in each clinical services
contract. On a monthly basis, the Company bills customers for reimbursable expenses and immediately recognizes reimbursement revenue, as the revenue is
deemed earned as reimbursable expenses are incurred. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, clinical services reimbursements were $2.6 million
and $0, respectively.

Processing and Storage Services: The Company recognizes revenue related to the collection and cryopreservation of cord blood and autologous adult
stem cells when the cryopreservation process is completed which is approximately twenty four hours



after cells have been collected. Revenue related to advance payments of storage fees is recognized ratably over the period covered by the advance payments.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful accounts. The Company applies judgment in connection
with establishing the allowance for doubtful accounts. Specifically, the Company analyzes the aging of accounts receivable balances, historical bad debts,
customer concentration and credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in the Company’s customer payment terms. Significant changes in
customer concentrations or payment terms, deterioration of customer credit-worthiness or weakening economic trends could have a significant impact on the
collectability of the receivables and the Company’s operating results. If the financial condition of the Company’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. Management regularly reviews the aging of receivables and changes
in payment trends by its customers, and records a reserve when it believes collection of amounts due are at risk.

Convertible Redeemable Preferred Stock Features
As a result of the November 2010 Series E Preferred Stock Offering, each reporting period we will value the holders’ conversion option, forced
redemption option, and warrants as derivative liabilities.

To value the holders’ conversion option and forced redemption option, the Company used a multi-nomial lattice model that values the compound
embedded derivatives based on a probability weighted discounted cash flow model. This model is based on future projections of the various potential
outcomes. Based on the embedded derivatives, there are four primary events that can occur; the holder converts the Series E Preferred Stock, the holder
redeems the Series E Preferred Stock, the Company redeems the Series E Preferred Stock, or the Company defaults/liquidates. The model analyzed the
underlying economic factors that influenced which of these events would occur, when they were likely to occur, and the specific terms that would be in effect
at the time (i.e. stock price, conversion price, etc.). Projections were then made on these underlying factors which led to a set of potential scenarios.
Probabilities were assigned to each of these scenarios based on stock volatility and management projections regarding default and availability of alternative
financing. This led to a cash flow projection and a probability associated with that cash flow. A discounted weighted average cash flow over the various
scenarios was completed, and it was compared to the discounted cash flow of a 7% debt instrument without the embedded derivatives, thus determining a
value for the compound embedded derivatives.

To value the warrants issued in connection with the Series E Preferred Stock, the Company used a multi-nomial lattice model that values the derivative
liability of the warrant based on a probability weighted discounted cash flow model. This model is based on future projections of the various potential
outcomes. Based on the features of the warrants, there are two primary events that can occur; the holder exercises the warrants (for scenarios above exercise
prices) or the warrants are held to expiration. The model analyzed the underlying economic factors that influenced which of these events would occur, when
they were likely to occur, and the specific terms that would be in effect at the time (i.e. stock price, exercise price, volatility, etc.). Projections were then made
on these underlying factors which led to a set of potential scenarios. Probabilities were assigned to each of these scenarios based on stock volatility and
management assumptions where appropriate. This led to a cash flow projection and a probability associated with that cash flow. A discounted weighted
average cash flow over the various scenarios was completed to determine the value of the warrant derivative liability.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
NeoStem, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of NeoStem, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2011,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, equity, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.
Our audit included consideration of internal control as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
NeoStem, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended December
31, 2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited the adjustments described in Note 11 to the financial statements that were applied retrospectively to the 2010
consolidated financial statements. We have also audited the adjustments required for the adoption of the new accounting guidance relating to
other comprehensive income, which were applied retrospectively to the 2010 consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, such
adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied. We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2010
consolidated financial statements of the Company other than with respect to such adjustments and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion
or any other form of assurance on the 2010 consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON, LLP

New York, New York
March 20, 2012, (except for Notes 3 and 11, as to which the date is August 14, 2012)



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
NeoStem, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited, before the effects of (1) the adjustments to retrospectively apply the change in accounting related to the adoption of Financial
Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2011-05, “Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) - Presentation of
Comprehensive Income” (“ASU 2011-05”) and (2) the retrospective adjustments for the discontinued operations discussed in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements, the consolidated balance sheet of NeoStem, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2010,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2010 (the 2010 consolidated
financial statements before the effects of (1) the adjustments to retrospectively apply ASU 2011-05 and (2) the retrospective adjustments
discussed in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements are not presented herein). These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.
Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such 2010 consolidated financial statements, before the effects of (1) the adjustments to retrospectively apply the change in
accounting related to the adoption of ASU 2011-05 and (2) the retrospective adjustments for the discontinued operations discussed in Note 11
to the consolidated financial statements, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of NeoStem, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2010, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2010, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to (1) the adjustments to retrospectively apply the change in accounting related
to the adoption of ASU 2011-05 and (2) the retrospective adjustments for the discontinued operations discussed in Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements, and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance about whether such retrospective
adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied. Those retrospective adjustments were audited by other auditors.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Parsippany, New Jersey
April 5, 2011



NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable trade, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $334,400
and $39,536, respectively

Inventory
Prepaids and other current assets
Assets related to discontinued operations

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill

Intangible assets, net

Other assets

Assets related to discontinued operations

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Notes payable
Mortgages payable
Unearned revenues
Liabilities related to discontinued operations
Total current liabilities
Long-term Liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Unearned revenues
Derivative liabilities
Acquisition-related contingent consideration
Liabilities related to discontinued operations

Total long-term liabilities

Commitments and Contingencies

Redeemable Securities

Convertible Redeemable Series E Preferred Stock; 10,582,011 shares designated,
liquidation value $1.00 per share; issued and outstanding 6,662,748 and
10,582,011 shares, at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively

EQUITY
Shareholders' Equity

December 31,

2011 2010
$ 3,935,160 $ 8,469,123
1,010,475 28,206
647,745 —
649,739 322,535
32,367,217 38,062,981
38,610,336 46,882,845
11,616,053 435,496
11,117,770 —
15,086,038 563,368
3,326,938 2,798,077
75,570,645 92,344,963
$ 155,327,780 $ 143,024,749
$ 2,287,201 $ 595,547
1,090,176 720,423
148,062 116,895
3,635,061 —
1,121,134 59,362
28,165,010 31,397,874
36,446,644 32,890,101
3,774,655 —
169,198 282,518
474,463 2,571,367
3,130,000 —
26,388,976 14,260,869
33,937,292 17,114,754
4,811,326 6,532,275
4,811,326 6,532,275



Preferred stock; authorized, 20,000,000 shares Series B convertible redeemable

preferred stock liquidation value, 1 share of common stock, $.01 par value;

825,000 shares designated; issued and outstanding, 10,000 shares at December

31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 100 100

Common stock, $.001 par value, authorized 500,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding, 109,329,587 and 64,221,130 shares, at December 31, 2011 and

December 31, 2010, respectively 109,330 63,813
Additional paid-in capital 200,858,638 141,137,522
Accumulated deficit (143,094,854) (95,320,620)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 4,152,343 2,779,066
Total NeoStem, Inc. shareholders' equity 62,025,557 48,659,881
Noncontrolling interests 18,106,961 37,827,738
Total equity 80,132,518 86,487,619

$ 155,327,780 $ 143,024,749

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Revenues
Cost of revenues

Gross profit

Research and development
Selling, general, and administrative
Goodwill impairment

Operating expenses

Operating loss

Other income (expense):
Other income, net

Interest expense

Loss from continuing operations before noncontrolling interests
(Loss) income from discontinued operations - net of income taxes
Net loss

Less - net loss from continuing operations attributable to noncontrolling interests

Less - net (loss) income from discontinued operations attributable to noncontrolling
interests

Net loss attributable to NeoStem, Inc.

Preferred dividends

Net loss attributable to NeoStem, Inc. common shareholders

Amounts attributable to NeoStem, Inc. common shareholders:
Loss from continuing operations

(Loss) income from discontinued operations - net of taxes
Preferred dividends

Net loss attributable to NeoStem, Inc. common shareholders

Basic and diluted (loss) income per share attributable to NeoStem, Inc. common
shareholders:

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
NeoStem, Inc. common shareholders

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010

$ 10,050,086 $ 181,146
8,646,687 —
1,403,399 181,146
7,720,748 6,008,285
27,687,162 19,468,213
— 558,168
35,407,910 26,034,666
(34,004,511)  (25,853,520)
2,085,870 333,611
(2,647,692) (289,526)
(561,822) 44,085
(34,566,333)  (25,809,435)
(22,016,524) 6,412,419
(56,582,857)  (19,397,016)
(299,789) —
(9,148,599) 3,908,690

(47,134,469)

639,765

(23,305,706)

237,963

$ (47,774,234)

$ (23,543,669)

$ (34,266,544)
(12,867,925)
639,765

$ (25,809,435)
2,503,729
237,963

$ (47,774,234)

$ (23,543,669)

$ (0.39) $ (0.50)
$ (0.15) $ 0.05
$ (0.54) $ (0.46)

88,598,696 51,632,417

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Year Ended December 31,
2011 2010

Net loss $ (56,582,857) $ (19,397,016)
Other comprehensive income:

Foreign currency translation 2,596,987 2,835,570
Total other comprehensive income 2,596,987 2,835,570
Comprehensive loss (53,985,870) (16,561,446)
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to noncontrolling interests (8,224,678) 5,264,600
Comprehensive net loss attributable to NeoStem, Inc. common shareholders $ (45,761,192) $ (21,826,046)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



Balance at
December
31, 2009

Net income
(loss)

Foreign
currency
translation

Exercise of
stock options

Exercise of
warrants

Share-based
compensation

Proceeds
from issuance
of common
stock

Conversion
of Series C
Preferred

Shares issued
for charitable
contribution

Receipt of
treasury
shares

Dividends on
Series C
Preferred

Dividends on
Series E
Preferred

Balance at
December
31, 2010

Net loss

Foreign
currency
translation

Exercise of
stock options

Share-based
compensation

Proceeds
from issuance
of common
stock

Shares issued
for charitable
contribution

Repayment
of Series E
Preferred
Principal
and
Dividends

Dividends to
related party

Technology
contributed to
Athelos

by Non-
Controlling
Interest

Shares issued
in PCT
Merger

Shares issued
in Amorcyte
Merger
Balance at

December
31, 2011

Series B Convertible

NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Equity

Accumulated Total Non-
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Other NeoStem, Inc. Controlling
Paid in Comprehensive Accumulated Shareholders' Interest in Total
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Income Deficit Equity Subsidiaries Equity
10,000 $ 100 37,193,491 $ 37,193 $ 95,709,491 $ (56,504) $ (71,776,951) $ 23,913,329 $ 33,919,048 $ 57,832,377
— — — — — — (23,305,706) (23,305,706) 3,908,690 (19,397,016)
— — — — — 2,835,570 — 2,835,570 — 2,835,570
— — 90,000 90 140,010 — — 140,100 — 140,100
— — 2,025,000 2,025 2,959,725 — — 2,961,750 — 2,961,750
— — 349,517 350 7,564,643 — — 7,564,993 — 7,564,993
— = 15,326,998 15,327 21,410,211 = = 21,425,538 = 21,425,538
— — 9,086,124 9,086 13,710,962 — — 13,720,048 — 13,720,048
— — 150,000 150 298,350 — — 298,500 — 298,500
— — — (408) (655,870) — — (656,278) — (656,278)
— — — — — — (153,469) (153,469) — (153,469)
— — — — — — (84,494) (84,494) — (84,494)
10,000 100 64,221,130 63,813 141,137,522 2,779,066 (95,320,620) 48,659,881 37,827,738 86,487,619
— — — — — — (47,134,469) (47,134,469) (9,448,388) (56,582,857)
— — — — — 1,373,277 — 1,373,277 1,223,710 2,596,987
— — 5,000 5 7,095 — — 7,100 — 7,100
— — 3,824,018 3,824 10,262,199 — — 10,266,023 — 10,266,023
— — 19,678,224 19,678 21,133,004 — — 21,152,682 — 21,152,682
— — — 408 606,955 — — 607,363 — 607,363
— — 5,157,732 5,158 4,254,907 — (639,765) 3,620,300 — 3,620,300
— — — — — — — — (11,726,099) (11,726,099)
— — — — 920,000 — — 920,000 230,000 1,150,000
— — 10,600,000 10,600 17,189,400 — — 17,200,000 — 17,200,000
— — 5,843,483 5,844 5,347,556 — — 5,353,400 — 5,353,400
10,000 $ 100 109,329,587 $ 109,330 $ 200,858,638 $ 4,152,343 $ (143,094,854) $ 62,025,557 $ 18,106,961 $ 80,132,518

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

Loss (income) from discontinued operations

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Common stock, stock options and warrants issued as payment for compensation,

services rendered and interest expense

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of preferred stock discount and issuance cost
Changes in fair value of derivative liability

Write off of acquired in-process research and development
Loss on disposal of assets

Gain on contract termination

Contributions paid with common stock

Bad debt (recovery) expense

Goodwill impairment charge

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effect of acquisitions:

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Unearned revenues
Other assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities - continuing operations
Net cash provided by operating activities - discontinued operations
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash received in acquisitions
Change in restricted cash used as collateral for notes payable
Acquisition of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities - continuing operations
Net cash used in investing activities - discontinued operations
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from the exercise of options and warrants
Net proceeds from issuance of capital stock
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred stock
Payment from related party
Repayment of mortgage loan
Proceeds from notes payable
Repayment of notes payable
Repayment of debt to related party
Repayment of preferred stock
Payment of dividend
Net cash provided by financing activities - continuing operations
Net cash provided by financing activities - discontinued operations
Net cash provided by financing activities
Impact of changes of foreign exchange rates

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010
(56,582,857)  $ (19,397,016)
22,016,524 (6,412,419)
10,266,023 7,863,492
1,440,576 137,807
2,440,241 281,211
(2,096,904) 138,325
1,150,000 =

_ 3,734

— (656,278)
607,363 —
(87,773) 39,536

— 558,168
(350,227) (221,979)
(443,132) 59,469
(647,745) —
948,452 60,593
53,211 (127,113)
(486,952) (1,004,593)
(21,773,200) (18,677,063)
845,206 10,200,364
(20,927,994) (8,476,699)
320,863 _
2,596 (2,500,000)
(574,857) (1,095,359)
(251,398) (3,595,359)
(1,803,182) (13,510,432)
(2,054,580) (17,105,791)
7,100 3,101,850
21,152,682 21,212,974
— 8,894,062

— 175,992
(149,542) _
149,766 431,520
(180,132) (314,625)
(3,000,000) —
(650,000) =
— (222,924)
17,329,874 33,278,849
2,739,496 576,601
20,069,370 33,855,450
46,245 180,062
(2,866,959) 8,453,022



Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Less cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations at end of year

Cash and cash equivalents of continuing operations at end of period

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Taxes
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment
Capitalized interest

Supplemental schedule of non-cash financing activities
Common stock, warrants and contingent consideration issued with the acquisition of
Amorcyte
Common stock and warrants issued with the acquisition of PCT

Common stock issued pursuant to the redemption of Convertible Redeemable Series E
7% Preferred Stock

Common stock issued in payment of dividends for the Convertible Redeemable Series E
7% Preferred Stock

Financing costs for capital stock raises

Conversion of Convertible Redeemable Series C Preferred Stock
Dividend to Related Party reinvested as loan payable

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

15,612,391 7,159,369
12,745,432 15,612,391
8,810,272 7,143,268
3,935,160 8,469,123
1,522,700 279,596
1,119,500 2,056,250
—_ 2,443,958
384,300 391,466
8,483,400 =
17,200,000 —
3,511,200 —
748,900 —
— 33,355

— 13,720,048
11,726,100 —



NEOSTEM, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 — The Company

NeoStem, Inc. (“NeoStem” or the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in September 1980 under the name Fidelity
Medical Services, Inc. The Company’s corporate headquarters are located at 420 Lexington Avenue, Suite 450, New York, NY 10170. The Company’s
telephone number is (212) 584-4180 and its website address is www.neostem.com.

NeoStem, Inc. is an international biopharmaceutical company. In 2011, we operated our business in three reportable segments: (i) Cell Therapy — United
States; (ii) Regenerative Medicine — China; and (iii) Pharmaceutical Manufacturing — China. Effective March 31, 2012, we committed to discontinue
operations in the Regenerative Medicine - China reportable segment, and on June 18, 2012, we also announced an agreement to sell our 51% interest in
Suzhou Erye, which represented the operations in our Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China segment. We have recast certain information to classify the
results of operations, assets and liabilities of the Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China and Regenerative Medicine - China segments as discontinued
operations (see Note 11). As a result, the Company currently operates in a single reporting segment.

The Company is focused on the development of proprietary cellular therapies in cardiovascular disease, immunology and regenerative medicine and
becoming a single source for collection, storage, manufacturing, therapeutic development and transportation of cells for cell based medicine and regenerative
science. The Company is also a provider of adult stem cell collection, processing and storage services in the U.S., enabling healthy individuals to donate and
store their stem cells for personal therapeutic use. In addition, the Company collects and stores cord blood cells of newborns which help to ensure a supply of
autologous stem cells for the child should they be needed for future medical treatment.

The Company strengthened its expertise in cellular therapies with its January 19, 2011 acquisition of Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company (“PCT”). PCT is engaged in a wide range of services in the cell therapy market for the treatment of human disease, including, but not
limited to contract manufacturing, product and process development, regulatory consulting, product characterization and comparability, and storage,
distribution, manufacturing and transportation of cell therapy products. PCT’s legacy business relationships also afford NeoStem introductions to innovative
therapeutic programs.

In March 2011, PCT’s wholly owned subsidiary, Athelos, Inc. (Athelos), acquired rights and technology for a T-cell based immunomodulatory
therapeutic in exchange for an approximate 20.00% interest in Athelos.

The Company further strengthened its breadth in cellular therapies through its October 17, 2011 acquisition of Amorcyte, Inc. Amorcyte is a
development stage cell therapy company focusing on novel treatments for cardiovascular disease. Amorcyte’s lead product candidate is AMR-001. In January
2012, Amorcyte enrolled its first patient in the PreSERVE Phase 2 trial to investigate AMR-001’s ability to preserve heart function after a heart attack.

The Company views the PCT and Amorcyte acquisitions as fundamental to building a foundation in achieving its strategic mission of capturing the
paradigm shift to cell therapy.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of NeoStem, Inc. and its wholly owned and partially owned
subsidiaries and affiliates as listed below:
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Entity

Percentage of Ownership

Location

NeoStem, Inc.
NeoStem Therapies, Inc.
Stem Cell Technologies, Inc.

Amorcyte, LLC

Parent Company
100%
100%
100%

United States of America
United States of America
United States of America

United States of America

NeoStem (China) Inc. (1) 100%
Qingdao Niao Bio-Technology Ltd.* (1)

People’s Republic of China
People’s Republic of China
Beijing Ruijiao Bio-Technology Ltd.* (1) People’s Republic of China

Tianjin Niou Bio-Technology Co., Ltd.* (1) People’s Republic of China

CBH Acquisition LLC 100% United States of America
100% owned by
China Biopharmaceuticals Holdings, Inc. (CBH) CBH Acquisition LLC United States of America
Suzhou Erye Pharmaceuticals Company Ltd. (2) 51% owned by CBH People’s Republic of China
Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC (PCT) 100% United States of America
NeoStem Family Storage, LLC 100% owned by PCT United States of America
Athelos Corporation 80.1% owned by PCT United States of America
PCT Allendale, LLC 100% owned by PCT United States of America
* Because certain regulations in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) currently restrict or prohibit foreign entities

from holding certain licenses and controlling certain businesses in China, the Company created a wholly foreign-
owned entity, or WFOE, NeoStem (China), to implement its initiatives in China. To comply with China’s foreign
investment regulations with respect to stem cell-related activities, these business initiatives in China are conducted
via Chinese domestic entities that are controlled by the WFOE through various contractual arrangements (Variable
Interest Entity or “VIE”) and under the principles of consolidation the Company consolidates 100% of their
operations.

(1) Included in the former Regenerative Medicine - China reporting segment, which was discontinued effective March 31, 2012 and is currently
reported in discontinued operations.

(2) Represents the operations of our former Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China reporting segment, which was discontinued on June 18, 2012, and is
currently reported in discontinued operations.

Basis of Presentation: The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“generally accepted accounting principles”) and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned and
partially owned subsidiaries. In the opinion of management, the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its subsidiaries,
include all normal and recurring adjustments considered necessary to present fairly the Company’s financial position as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the periods presented.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid, investments with maturities of ninety days or less when purchased.
As of December 31, 2011, the Company had approximately $791,100 in bank deposits covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

Restricted Cash: The Company has restricted cash associated with its Series E Preferred Stock, which is held in escrow, and is recorded in other assets.

Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful accounts. The Company applies
judgment in connection with establishing the allowance for doubtful accounts. Specifically, the Company analyzes the aging of accounts receivable balances,
historical bad debts, customer concentration and credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in the Company’s customer payment terms.
Significant changes in customer concentrations or payment terms, deterioration of customer credit-worthiness or weakening economic trends could have a
significant impact on the
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collectability of the receivables and the Company’s operating results. If the financial condition of the Company’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. Management regularly reviews the aging of receivables and changes
in payment trends by its customers, and records a reserve when it believes collection of amounts due are at risk.

Inventories: Inventory represents work in process for costs incurred on projects at PCT that have not been completed. The Company reviews these projects
periodically to determine that the value of each project is stated at the lower of cost or market. Inventories were $0.6 million and $0 as of December 31, 2011

and 2010, respectively.

Property, Plant, and Equipment: The cost of property and equipment is depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Depreciation is
computed on the straight-line method. Repairs and maintenance expenditures that do not extend original asset lives are charged to expense as incurred.

Property, plant, and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

Useful Life 2011 2010
Building and improvements 25-30 years $ 9,874.0 $ —
Machinery and equipment 8-12 years 17.9 —
Lab equipment 5-7 years 1,559.1 365.8
Furniture and fixtures 5-12 years 632.4 274.3
Software 3-5 years 98.3 99.6
Leasehold improvements 2-3 years 702.0 64.9
Property, plant and equipment, Gross 12,883.6 804.6
Accumulated depreciation (1,267.6) (369.1)
Property, plant and equipment, Net $ 11,616.1 $ 435.5

The Company’s results included depreciation expense of approximately $0.9 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

Income Taxes: The Company recognizes (a) the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and (b) deferred tax liabilities and assets for the
future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s financial statements or tax returns. The Company continues to evaluate the
accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. The guidance requires companies to recognize in their financial statements the impact of a tax position if the
position is more likely than not of being sustained on audit. The position ascertained inherently requires judgment and estimates by management. As of
December 31, 2011, management does not believe the Company has any material uncertain tax positions that would require it to measure and reflect the
potential lack of sustainability of a position on audit in its financial statements. The Company will continue to evaluate its uncertain tax positions in future
periods to determine if measurement and recognition in its financial statements is necessary. The Company does not believe there will be any material
changes in its unrecognized tax positions over the next year.

Recognizing and Measuring Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in Business Combinations at Fair Value: The Company accounts for acquired
businesses using the purchase method of accounting, which requires that assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recorded at date of acquisition at their
respective fair values. The consolidated financial statements and results of operations reflect an acquired business after the completion of the acquisition. The
fair value of the consideration paid, including contingent consideration, is assigned to the underlying net assets of the acquired business based on their
respective fair values. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Beginning in 2009,
amounts allocated to IPR&D are included on the balance sheet (refer to discussion above in “Goodwill and Intangible Assets with Indefinite Lives”).
Intangible assets, including IPR&D assets upon successful completion of the project and approval of the product, are amortized on a straight-line basis to
amortization expense over the expected life of the asset. Significant judgments are used in determining the estimated fair values assigned to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed and in determining estimates of useful lives of long-lived assets. Fair value determinations and useful life estimates are based
on, among other factors, estimates of expected future net cash flows, estimates of appropriate discount rates used to present value expected future net cash
flow streams, the timing of approvals for IPR&D projects and the timing of related product launch dates, the assessment of each asset’s
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life cycle, the impact of competitive trends on each asset’s life cycle and other factors. These judgments can materially impact the estimates used to allocate
acquisition date fair values to assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the resulting timing and amount of amounts charged to, or recognized in current and
future operating results. For these and other reasons, actual results may vary significantly from estimated results.

The Company determines the acquisition date fair value of contingent consideration obligations based on a probability-weighted income approach
derived from revenue estimates, post-tax gross profit levels and a probability assessment with respect to the likelihood of achieving contingent obligations
including contingent payments such as milestone obligations, royalty obligations and contract earn-out criteria, where applicable. The fair value measurement
is based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represents a Level 3 measurement as defined in fair value measurement accounting. The
resultant probability-weighted cash flows are discounted using an appropriate effective annual interest rate. At each reporting date, the contingent
consideration obligation will be revalued to estimated fair value and changes in fair value will be reflected as income or expense in our consolidated statement
of operations. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration obligations may result from changes in discount periods and rates, changes in the
timing and amount of revenue estimates and changes in probability assumptions with respect to the likelihood of achieving the various contingent payment
obligations. Adverse changes in assumptions utilized in our contingent consideration fair value estimates could result in an increase in our contingent
consideration obligation and a corresponding charge to operating income.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: Goodwill is the excess of purchase price over the fair value of identified net assets of businesses acquired. The
Company’s intangible assets with an indefinite life are related to in process research and development for AMR-001, the clinical candidate acquired in the
Amorcyte acquisition, as the Company expects this research and development to provide the Company with substantial benefit for a period that extends
beyond the foreseeable horizon. Amortized intangible assets consist of customer lists, manufacturing technology, and tradename, as well as patents and rights
associated primarily with the VSEL™ Technology. These intangible assets are amortized on a straight line basis over their respective useful lives.

The Company reviews goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets at least annually for possible impairment. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets are reviewed for possible impairment between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair
value of the reporting unit below its carrying value. The Company tests its goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets on December 31. The Company
reviews the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets utilizing a discounted cash flow model, and, where appropriate, a market value
approach is also utilized to supplement the discounted cash flow model. The Company makes assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows, discount
rates, long-term growth rates and market values to determine each reporting unit’s estimated fair value. If these estimates or related assumptions change in the
future, the Company may be required to record impairment charges.

Derivatives: Derivative instruments, including derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, are recorded on the balance sheet as either an asset or
liability measured at its fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are recognized currently in results of operations unless specific hedge
accounting criteria are met. The Company has not entered into hedging activities to date. As a result of certain financings (see Note 8), derivative instruments
were created that are measured at fair value and marked to market at each reporting period. Changes in the derivative value are recorded as other income
(expense) on the consolidated statements of operations.

Evaluation of Long-lived Assets: The Company reviews long-lived assets and finite-lived intangibles assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. If other events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset that the Company expects to hold and use may not be recoverable, the Company will estimate the undiscounted future cash flows
expected to result from the use of the asset or its eventual disposition, and recognize an impairment loss. The impairment loss, if determined to be necessary,
would be measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.

Share-Based Compensation: The Company expenses all share-based payment awards to employees, directors, advisors and consultants, including grants of
stock options, warrants, and restricted stock, over the requisite service period based on the grant date fair value of the awards. Advisor and consultant awards
are remeasured each reporting period through vesting. For awards with performance-based vesting criteria, the Company estimates the probability of
achievement of the performance criteria and recognizes compensation expense related to those awards expected to vest. The Company determines the fair
value of certain share-based awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model which uses both historical and current market data to estimate the fair
value. This method incorporates various assumptions such as the risk-free interest rate, expected volatility, expected dividend yield and expected life of the
options or warrants. The fair value of the Company’s restricted stock and restricted stock units is based on the closing market price of the Company’s
common stock on the date of grant. See Note 9.

Loss Per Share: Basic loss per share is based on the weighted effect of all common shares issued and outstanding, and is calculated
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by dividing net loss attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share, which is
calculated by dividing net loss attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares used in the basic loss per share
calculation plus the number of common shares that would be issued assuming conversion of all potentially dilutive securities outstanding, is not presented as
such potentially dilutive securities are anti-dilutive in all periods presented. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company incurred net
losses and therefore no common stock equivalents were utilized in the calculation of loss per share. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company excluded
the following potentially dilutive securities:

December 31,

2011 2010
Stock Options 17,143,505 13,032,214
Warrants 37,389,825 21,843,507
Series E Preferred Stock, Common stock equivalents 3,989,669 5,289,948
Restricted Shares 976,668 51,666

Revenue Recognition

Clinical Services: The Company recognizes revenue for its cell development and manufacturing services based on the terms of individual contracts. Cell
development services generally contain multiple stages, which the Company evaluates for multiple elements. Each stage does not have stand-alone value and
are dependent upon one another; therefore the Company recognizes revenue on a completed contract basis. Manufacturing services represent separate and
distinct arrangements, and the Company is paid for time and materials or for fixed monthly amounts and revenue is recognized when efforts are expended or
contractual terms have been met.

Clinical Services Reimbursements: The Company separately charges the customers for reimbursable expenses that are specified in each clinical services
contract. On a monthly basis, the Company bills customers for reimbursable expenses and immediately recognizes reimbursement revenue, as the revenue is
deemed earned as reimbursable expenses are incurred. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, clinical services reimbursements were $2.6 million
and $0, respectively.

Processing and Storage Services: The Company recognizes revenue related to the collection and cryopreservation of cord blood and autologous adult
stem cells when the cryopreservation process is completed which is approximately twenty four hours after cells have been collected. Revenue related to
advance payments of storage fees is recognized ratably over the period covered by the advance payments.

Fair Value Measurements: Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are being measured and reported are defined as the exchange price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal market at the measurement date
(exit price). The Company is required to classify fair value measurements in one of the following categories:

Level 1 inputs which are defined as quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs which are defined as inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly
or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs are defined as unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities. Financial assets and liabilities are classified based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement
requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of the fair value of assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy levels.

The Company determined the fair value of funds invested in short term investments, which are considered trading securities, to be level 1 inputs
measured by quoted prices of the securities in active markets. The Company determined the fair value of funds invested in money market funds to be level 1.
The Company determined the fair value of the embedded derivative liabilities and warrant derivative liabilities to be level 3 inputs. These inputs require
material subjectivity because value is derived through the use of a lattice model that values the derivatives based on probability weighted discounted cash
flows. The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value
on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2011, and December 31, 2010 (in thousands):
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December 31, 2011

Fair Value Measurements
Using Fair Value Hierarchy

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Money market investments $ 2,497.4 $ — 3 —
Embedded derivative liabilities — — 391.7
Warrant derivative liabilities — — 82.7
Contingent consideration — — 3,130.0

December 31, 2010
Fair Value Measurements
Using Fair Value Hierarchy

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Money market investments $ — $ 2,501.0 $ —
Embedded derivative
liabilities — — 2,281.8
Warrant derivative liabilities — — 289.6

Subsequent to December 31, 2010 the Company reevaluated the characteristics of the money market savings account, currently recorded as other assets,
and determined it is not tied to underlying securities and has been reclassified to level 1.

The fair value measurement of the contingent consideration obligations is determined using Level 3 inputs. The fair value of contingent consideration
obligations is based on a probability-weighted income approach. The measurement is based upon unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity
based on our own assumptions. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration obligations are recorded in our consolidated statement of operations.
Contingent consideration was recognized on October 17, 2011 in connection with the Amorcyte merger. See Note 4. There were no changes in contingent
consideration fair value as of December 31, 2011.

For those financial instruments with significant Level 3 inputs, the following table summarizes the activity for the years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010 by type of instrument (in thousands):

Embedded

Derivatives Warrants
Beginning liability balance, December 31, 2009 $ —  $ 36.0
Convertible redeemable Series E preferred stock and warrants
issued 2,131.1 266.0
Change in fair value recorded in earnings 150.7 (12.4)
Ending liability balance, December 31, 2010 $ 2,281.8 $ 289.6
Change in fair value recorded in earnings (1,890.1) (206.9)
Ending liability balance, December 31, 2011 $ 391.7 $ 82.7

Some of the Company’s financial instruments are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis, but are recorded at amounts that approximate fair value

due to their liquid or short-term nature, such as cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, notes payable and bank
loans.

Foreign Currency Translation: As the Company’s Chinese pharmaceutical business, which is reported in discontinued operations (see Note 11), is a self-
contained and integrated entity, and the Company’s Chinese stem cell business’ future cash flow is intended to be sufficient to service its additional financing
requirements, the Chinese subsidiaries’ functional currency is the Renminbi (“RMB”), and the Company’s reporting currency is the US dollar. Results of
foreign operations are translated at the average
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exchange rates during the period, and assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the end of each reporting period. Cash flows are also translated
at average exchange rates for the period, therefore, amounts reported on the consolidated statement of cash flows will not necessarily agree with changes in
the corresponding balances on the consolidated balance sheet.

Translation adjustments resulting from this process are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and amounted to $4.2 million and
$2.8 million as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively.

Research and Development Costs: Research and development (“R&D”) expenses include salaries, benefits, and other headcount related costs, clinical trial
and related clinical manufacturing costs, contract and other outside service fees including sponsored research agreements, and facilities and overhead costs.
The Company expenses the costs associated with research and development activities when incurred.

To further drive the Company’s cell therapy initiatives, the Company will continue targeting key governmental agencies, congressional committees and
not-for-profit organizations to contribute funds for the Company’s research and development programs. The Company accounts for government grants as a
deduction to the related expense in research and development operating expenses when earned.

Note 3 — Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update, Testing Goodwill for Impairment (the
revised standard). The revised standard is intended to reduce the cost and complexity of the annual goodwill impairment test by providing entities an option to
perform a “qualitative” assessment to determine whether further impairment testing is necessary. The revised standard is effective for annual and interim
goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. Early adoption is permitted provided that the entity has not yet
performed its 2011 annual impairment test or issued its financial statements. An entity has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it
is necessary to perform the current two-step test. If an entity believes, as a result of its qualitative assessment, that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value
of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the quantitative impairment test is required. Otherwise, no further testing is required. The Company
adopted this update in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2011, and the adoption of this update did not have an impact on its consolidated results of operations
and financial condition.

In December 2010, the FASB issued an update which addresses when to perform Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test for reporting units with zero or
negative carrying amounts. The update modifies Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test for reporting units with zero or negative carrying amounts. For those
reporting units, an entity is required to perform Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test if it is more likely than not that a goodwill impairment exists. In
determining whether it is more likely than not that goodwill impairment exists, an entity should consider whether there are any adverse qualitative factors
indicating that impairment may exist. The qualitative factors are consistent with the existing guidance, which requires that goodwill of a reporting unit be
tested for impairment between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit
below its carrying amount. This update is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2010. The adoption
of this guidance did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In December 2010, the FASB issued an update which addresses the disclosure of supplementary pro forma information for business combinations. The
update requires public entities to disclose pro forma information for business combinations that occurred in the current reporting period, including revenue
and earnings of the combined entity for the current reporting period as though the acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the year
had been as of the beginning of the annual reporting period. If comparative financial statements are presented, the pro forma revenue and earnings of the
combined entity for the comparable prior reporting period should be reported as though the acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during
the current year had been as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual reporting period. Amendments in this update are effective prospectively for
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2010.
The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, which amends FASB ASC Topic 220, Comprehensive Income. This ASU is intended to increase the
prominence of items reported in other comprehensive income in the financial statements by presenting the total of comprehensive income, the components of
net income and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but
consecutive statements. This ASU eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in
stockholders' equity. This ASU does not change the items that must be reported in other comprehensive income or when an item of other comprehensive
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income must be reclassified to net income. This update is effective during interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011. The adoption of
this ASU effective January 1, 2012 had no impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU No.
2011-12, which defers certain provisions contained in ASU No. 2011-05, as discussed above, with respect to the requirement to present components of
reclassifications of other comprehensive income on the face of the income statement or in the notes to the financial statements. However, this deferral does
not impact the other requirements contained in the new standard on comprehensive income as described above. This new guidance was effective for fiscal
years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2011, and was applied retrospectively. We adopted this new guidance on January 1, 2012.

Note 4 — Acquisitions

Amorcyte Acquisition

On 10/17/2011 (the “Closing Date”), Amo Acquisition Company I, Inc. (“Subco”), a newly-formed wholly-owned subsidiary of NeoStem, Inc.
(“NeoStem” or the “Company”), merged (the “Amorcyte Merger”) with and into Amorcyte, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Amorcyte”), in accordance with
the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 13, 2011 (the “Amorcyte Merger Agreement”), among NeoStem, Amorcyte, Subco, and Amo
Acquisition Company II, LLC (“Subco II”). As a result of the consummation of the Amorcyte Merger, Amorcyte is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of
NeoStem. Amorcyte is a development stage cell therapy company focusing on novel treatments for cardiovascular disease.

Pursuant to the terms of the Amorcyte Merger Agreement, all of the shares of Amorcyte common stock and Amorcyte Series A Preferred Stock and all
options and warrants to acquire equity of Amorcyte, issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Amorcyte Merger (the “Effective
Time”), were by virtue of the Amorcyte Merger cancelled and converted into the right to receive, in the aggregate:

i. 5,843,483 shares of NeoStem Common Stock (reflecting certain adjustments taken at the closing, and subject to further adjustment following the

closing in accordance with the Amorcyte Merger Agreement) (the “Base Stock Consideration”);

ii. the right to receive 4,092,768 shares of NeoStem Common Stock (the “Contingent Shares”, and together with the Base Stock Consideration, the
“Stock Consideration”), which Contingent Shares will be issued only if certain specified business milestones (described below) are accomplished;

iii. warrants to purchase 1,881,008 shares of NeoStem Common Stock exercisable over a seven (7) year period at an exercise price of $1.466 per share
(the “Warrants”) (such Warrants are redeemable in certain circumstances, and transfer of any shares of NeoStem Common Stock issued upon
exercise of the Warrants will be restricted until one year after the Closing Date); and

iv. earn out payments equal to 10% of the net sales of Amorcyte’s lead product candidate AMR-001 (in the event of and following the date of first
commercial sale of AMR-001), provided that in the event NeoStem sublicenses AMR-001, the applicable earn out payment will be equal to 30% of
any sublicensing fees, and provided further that NeoStem will be entitled to recover direct out-of-pocket clinical development costs not previously
paid or reimbursed and any costs, expenses, liabilities and settlement amounts arising out of claims of patent infringement or otherwise challenging
Amorcyte’s right to use intellectual property, by reducing any earn out payments due by 50% until such costs have been recouped in full (the “Earn
Out Payments™).

In accordance with the Amorcyte Merger Agreement, NeoStem has deposited into an escrow account with the escrow agent (who is initially NeoStem’s
transfer agent), 5,843,483 shares of NeoStem Common Stock for eventual distribution to the former Amorcyte stockholders (subject to further adjustment
following the closing, including in connection with any indemnification claims of NeoStem, all in accordance with the Amorcyte Merger Agreement).

The Contingent Shares will be issued to the former Amorcyte stockholders only if certain business milestones are achieved, as follows:

*  One-third of the Contingent Shares (1,364,256 shares) will be issued upon (a) the completion of Phase 2 clinical trial for Amorcyte’s product
candidate AMR-001 and (b) issuance of a statistically significant analysis demonstrating satisfaction of the primary clinical end points from the
Phase 2 clinical trial, which primary clinical endpoints are described in the Phase 2 clinical trial protocol submitted by Amorcyte to the FDA on July
5, 2011.

*  One-third of the Contingent Shares will be issued following a Type B End of Phase 2/Pre-Phase 3 meeting with the FDA wherein AMR-001 is
acknowledged in writing by the FDA to be ready for Phase 3.

*  The remaining one-third of the Contingent Shares will be issued upon the first dosing of the first patient in the pivotal Phase 3 clinical study for
AMR-001.

The merger consideration described above will be distributed to Amorcyte’s former securityholders consistent with applicable liquidation preferences
contained in Amorcyte’s governing documents, all in accordance with the Amorcyte Merger Agreement.
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The fair value of the net assets acquired in the Amorcyte Merger was $4.4 million. The fair value of the consideration paid by NeoStem was valued at
$8.5 million, resulting in the recognition of goodwill in the amount of $4.1 million. The consideration paid was comprised of equity issued and the earn out
payments. The fair value of the equities issued by NeoStem included 5,843,483 shares of NeoStem Common stock valued at $3.7 million, the right to receive
4,092,768 shares of NeoStem Common Stock valued at $940,000, and NeoStem warrants to purchase up to 1,881,008 shares valued at $673,600. The right to
receive NeoStem Common Stock and warrants is contingent upon the accomplishment of a certain milestones. Such contingent consideration has been
classified as equity and will not be subject to remeasurement. The fair value of the earn out payments was valued at $3.1 million. The earn out is contingent
upon future net sales upon the first commercial sale of AMR-001. Such contingent consideration has been classified as a liability and will be subject to
remeasurement. The contingent consideration is based on earn out payments equal to 10% of the net sales of Amorcyte’s lead product candidate AMR-001 (in
the event of and following the date of first commercial sale of AMR-001). The Company will be entitled to recover direct out-of-pocket clinical development
costs not previously paid or reimbursed and any costs, expenses, liabilities and settlement amounts arising out of claims of patent infringement or otherwise
challenging Amorcyte’s right to use intellectual property, by reducing any earn out payments due by 50% until such costs have been recouped in full (the
“Earn Out Payments”). There were no changes in contingent consideration fair value as of December 31, 2011.

The preliminary fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on October 17, 2011 is as follows (in thousands):

Cash $ 929
Prepaid Expenses 178.2
In Process R&D 9,400.0
Goodwill 4,104.5
Accounts Payable & Accrued Liabilities 1,177.1
Deferred Tax Liability 3,774.7
Amount Due Related Party 340.4

The total cost of the acquisition, which is still preliminary, has been allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based upon their estimated
fair values at the date of the acquisition. The final allocation is pending the receipt of this valuation work and the completion of the Company’s internal
review, which is expected during fiscal 2012.

For the period since the acquisition (October 17 — December 31, 2011), NeoStem recorded a net loss of approximately $854,100 or $0.01 basic and
diluted loss per share attributable to Amorcyte.

PCT Acquisition

On 1/19/2011 (the “Closing Date”), NBS Acquisition Company LLC (“Subco”), a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of NeoStem, merged (the
“PCT Merger”) with and into Progenitor Cell Therapy, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“PCT”), with PCT as the surviving entity, in accordance
with the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 23, 2010 (the “PCT Merger Agreement”), among NeoStem, PCT and Subco. As a
result of the consummation of the PCT Merger, NeoStem acquired all of the membership interests of PCT, and PCT is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of
NeoStem.

Pursuant to the terms of the PCT Merger Agreement, all of the membership interests of PCT outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the
PCT Merger were converted into the right to receive, in the aggregate, (i) 10,600,000 shares of the common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of NeoStem
(the “NeoStem Common Stock”) (reflecting certain final price adjustments agreed to at the closing) and (ii) warrants to purchase an aggregate 3,000,000
shares of NeoStem Common Stock as follows:

i. common stock purchase warrants to purchase one million (1,000,000) shares of NeoStem Common Stock, exercisable over a seven year period at an
exercise price of $7.00 per share (the “$7.00 Warrants”), and which will vest only if a specified business milestone (described in the PCT Merger
Agreement) is accomplished within three (3) years of the Closing Date of the PCT Merger; and

ii. common stock purchase warrants to purchase one million (1,000,000) shares of NeoStem Common Stock exercisable over a seven year term at an
exercise price of $3.00 per share (the “$3.00 Warrants”); and

iii. common stock purchase warrants to purchase one million (1,000,000) shares of NeoStem Common Stock exercisable over a seven year period at an
exercise price of $5.00 per share (the “$5.00 Warrants” and, collectively with the $7.00 Warrants and the $3.00 Warrants, the “Warrants™).

The Warrants are redeemable in certain circumstances. Transfer of the shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrants is restricted
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until the one year anniversary of the Closing Date.

The fair value of the net assets acquired in the PCT Merger was $10.2 million. The fair value of the equity issued as consideration by NeoStem was
valued at $17.2 million resulting in the recognition of goodwill in the amount of $7.0 million. The fair value of the equities issued by NeoStem included
10,600,000 shares of NeoStem Common stock valued at $15.9 million and NeoStem warrants to purchase up to 3,000,000 shares valued at $1.3 million. A
portion of the consideration paid is contingent upon the accomplishment of a certain milestone for the $7.00 Warrants. Such contingent consideration totaled
$70,000, and was determined using a Black-Scholes valuation and probability of success factor, and has been classified as equity and will not be subject to
remeasurement. The goodwill that has been created by this acquisition is reflective of values and opportunities of utilizing PCT’s cell collection, processing
and storage (cell banking) resources and production capacities, as mentioned above.

The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on January 19, 2011 is as follows (in thousands):

Cash $ 227.9
Accounts Receivable 451.4
Other Current Assets 166.2
Property, Plant & Equipment 11,755.0
Intangibles 5,700.0
Goodwill 7,013.5
Other Assets 581.9
Accounts Payable 1,370.9
Other Liabilities 540.5
Amount Due Related Party 3,000.0
Mortgages Payable 3,784.6

For the period since the acquisition (January 19-December 31, 2011), NeoStem recorded $9,685,400 in revenues and a net loss of approximately $3.7
million or $0.04 basic and diluted loss per share attributable to PCT.

Amorcyte and PCT Combined Pro Forma Financial Information
The following supplemental table presents unaudited consolidated pro forma financial information as if the closing of the acquisitions of Amorcyte and
PCT had occurred on January 1, 2010 (in thousands, except per share amounts):
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Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2011 2011 2010 2010
(As Reported) (Pro Forma) (As Reported) (Pro Forma)

Revenues $ 10,050 $ 10,322  $ 181 $ 12,549
Cost of revenues 8,647 8,923 — 8,739
Gross profit 1,403 1,400 181 3,810
Research and development 7,721 7,964 6,008 6,205
Selling, general, and administrative 27,687 29,473 19,468 26,511
Goodwill impairment — — 558 558
Operating loss (34,005) (36,037) (25,854) (29,464)
Other income (expense), net (562) (548) 44 (363)
Net loss from continuing operations (34,566) (36,586) (25,809) (29,827)
(Loss) income from discontinued operations - net (22,017) (22,017) 6,412 6,412
Net loss (56,583) (58,602) (19,397) (23,415)
Less — net income attributable to noncontrolling
interests (9,448) (9,448) 3,909 3,909
Preferred dividends 640 640 238 238
Net loss attributable to NeoStem, Inc. common
shareholders $ 47,774) $ (49,794) $ (23,544) $ (27,561)
Basic and diluted loss per share $ 0.54) $ (0.53) $ 0.46) $ (0.40)
Weighted average common shares outstanding 88,599 93,793 51,632 68,076

The unaudited supplemental pro forma financial information should not be considered indicative of the results that would have occurred if the
acquisitions of Amorcyte and PCT had been consummated on January 1, 2010, nor are they indicative of future results.

Athelos

Athelos Corporation (“Athelos”) is a subsidiary of PCT pursuing the development of T regulatory cells (TRegs) as a therapeutic to treat disorders of the
immune system. Pursuant to a Stock Purchase and Assignment Agreement dated March 28, 2011, Athelos issued approximately 20% of its shares to Becton
Dickinson and Company (“BD”) in exchange for the rights to certain intellectual property relating to TRegs that BD owned pursuant to a license agreement
between the University of Pennsylvania (“Penn”) and BD dated September 28, 2005 (the “Penn License”), and a license agreement between ExCell
Therapeutics, LLC and BD dated September 16, 2005, as amended August 31, 2007 (the “ExCell License”). Pursuant to a Stock Purchase and Assignment
Agreement dated March 28, 2011, Athelos took assignment from BD of its rights and obligations under the Penn License and the ExCell License, including,
among other things, obligations to pay royalties on net sales of licensed products, maintenance fees and milestones on initiation of clinical trial stages, license
application filings and regulatory approvals. As expressly anticipated by the parties, Athelos replaced the assignment of the Penn License with two new direct
licenses: The Amended and Restated Patent License Agreement between Penn and Athelos dated September 12, 2011, and the Patent License Agreement
between Penn, Athelos and the University of Minnesota dated September 12, 2011. Pursuant to the Stockholders’ Agreement dated March 28, 2011, Athelos,
PCT and BD have agreed, that, among other things, BD will have certain anti-dilution protection for the first $5 million of new investment in Athelos and
certain board of directors’ observer rights. BD has assigned to Athelos, and Athelos assumed, all rights, title, interest and obligations of BD under a
consulting agreement dated as of September 16, 2005 between David Horwitz, M.D. and BD, to be paid retroactively beginning as of January 1, 2011, for
services rendered in advancing the Athelos TReg research and development platform. PCT had preliminarily valued BD’s share of the contributed intellectual
properties in the quarter ended March 31, 2011 at $927,000. The acquisition of contributed intellectual properties did not qualify as a business combination,
did not reach technological feasibility, and did not have any future alternative use. As a result, the Company characterized this acquired intangible asset as in-
process research and development as expense within research and development expense.

In the quarter ended September 30, 2011, PCT finalized its valuation of the intellectual properties received, and revised the fair value to $1,150,000,
which is recorded as expense within research and development expense for the year ended December 31, 2011.
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Note 5 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

As part of the Company’s annual impairment review as of December 31, 2010, a $0.6 million goodwill impairment charge was recorded due to lower
than expected revenue and operating income growth of its adult stem cell banking area. The Company estimated the fair value utilizing a discounted cash

flow model.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during 2011 and 2010 were as follows (in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2009
Impairment

Balance as of December 31, 2010
Acquisitions*

Balance as of December 31, 2011

Total
$ 558.2
(558.2)
11,117.8
$ 11,117.8

* Approximately $7.0 million associated with the PCT Merger, and $4.1 million associated with Amorcyte merger

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company’s intangible assets and related accumulated amortization consisted of the following (in thousands):

12/31/2011 12/31/2010
Accumulated Accumulated
Useful Life Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net
Customer list 10 Years 1,000.0 (95.1) 904.9 — —
Manufacturing technology 10 Years 3,900.0 (370.9) 3,529.1 — —
Tradename 10 Years 800.0 (76.2) 723.8 — —
In process R&D Indefinite 9,400.0 — 9,400.0 — —
VSEL patent rights 19 Years 669.0 (140.8) 528.2 669.0 (105.6)
Total Intangible Assets 15,769.0 (683.0) 15,086.0 669.0 (105.6)
In connection with the acquisition of PCT, the following intangible assets were acquired (in thousands):
Customer list $ 1,000.0
Manufacturing technology 3,900.0
Tradename 800.0
Intangible Assets, PCT Acquisition $ 5,700.0

In connection with the acquisition of Amorcyte, an In Process R&D intangible asset of $9,400,000 was recorded.

Total intangible amortization expense was classified in the operating expense categories for the periods included below as follows (in thousands):
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Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010
Cost of revenue $ 3709 $ —
Research and development 35.2 35.2
Selling, general and administrative 171.2 —
Total $ 5773 $ 35.2

Estimated intangible amortization expense on an annual basis for the succeeding five years is as follows (in thousands):

2012 $ 605.2
2013 605.2
2014 605.2
2015 605.2
2016 605.2
Thereafter 12,060.0

$ 15,086.0

Note 6 — Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2011 2010

Other taxes $ 704 $ —

Salaries, employee benefits and related taxes 365.7 85.4

Other 654.1 635.0

$ 1,090.2 $ 720.4
Note 7 — Debt
Notes Payable

The Company has financed certain insurance policies and has notes payable at December 31, 2011 and 2010 of approximately $148,100 and $116,895,
respectively, related to these policies. These notes require monthly payments and mature in less than one year.

Mortgages Payable

On October 31, 2007, PCT issued a note to borrow $3,120,000 (the “Note”) in connection with its $3,818,500 purchase of condominium units in an
existing building in Allendale, New Jersey (the “Property”) that PCT uses as a laboratory and stem cell processing facility. The Note is payable in 239
consecutive monthly payments of principal and interest, based on a 20 year amortization schedule; and one final payment of all outstanding principal plus
accrued interest then due. The current monthly installment is $20,766, which includes interest at an initial rate of 5.00%; the interest rate and monthly
installments payments are subject to adjustment on October 1, 2017. On that date, upon prior written notice, the lender has the option to declare the entire
outstanding principal balance, together with all outstanding interest, due and payable in full. The Note is secured by substantially all of the assets of PCT,
including a first mortgage on the Property and assignment of an amount approximately equal to eighteen months debt service held in escrow. The Note
matures on October 1, 2027 if not called by the lender on October 1, 2017. The note is subject to certain debt service coverage and total debt to tangible net
worth financial covenant ratios measured semi-annually. PCT was not in compliance with such covenants at the measurement date of December 31, 2011, and
obtained a covenant waiver letter from the lender for all periods through December 31, 2011. The outstanding balance was approximately $2,708,300 at
December 31, 2011 of which $114,200 is payable within twelve months. On December 6, 2010 PCT Allendale, a wholly-owned subsidiary of PCT, entered
into a note for a second mortgage in the amount of $1 million on the Allendale Property with TD Bank, N.A. This loan is guaranteed by PCT, DomaniCell (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of PCT, now known as NeoStem Family Storage, LLC), Northern New Jersey Cancer Associates (“NNJCA”) and certain partners
of NNJCA and is subject to a financial covenant starting December 31, 2011. PCT was not in compliance with such covenants at the measurement date of
December 31, 2011, and obtained a covenant waiver letter from the lender for all periods through December 31, 2011. The loan is for 124 months at a fixed
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rate of 6% for the first 64 months. The loan is callable for a certain period prior to the interest reset date. The initial four months was interest only. The
outstanding balance as of December 31, 2011 is $926,800 of which $76,000 is payable within twelve months. Both mortgages are classified as current
liabilities as of December 31, 2011.

Note 8 — Preferred Stock
Convertible Redeemable Series E 7% Preferred Stock

On November 19, 2010, the Company sold 10,582,011 Preferred Offering Units consisting of (i) one share (“Preferred Share”) of Series E 7% Senior
Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company, (ii) a warrant to purchase 0.25 of a share of Common Stock (consisting of at issuance
an aggregate of 1,322,486 warrants, adjusted to an aggregate of 1,452,925 as of December 31, 2011); and (iii) 0.0155 of a share of Common Stock (an
aggregate of 164,418 shares). Each Preferred Offering Unit was priced at $0.945 and total gross and net proceeds received by the Company were $10.0
million and $8.9 million, respectively.

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, either voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the Preferred Shares are entitled
to receive, out of the assets of the Company available for distribution to shareholders, prior and in preference to any distribution of any assets of the Company
to the holders of any other class or series of equity securities, the amount of $1.00 per share plus all accrued but unpaid dividends.

Dividends on the Preferred Shares accrue at a rate of 7.00% per annum and are payable monthly in arrears. The Company is required to redeem 1/27 of
the Preferred Shares monthly.

Monthly dividend and principal payments began on March 21, 2011 and continue on the 19th of each month thereafter with the final payment due on
May 20, 2013. Payments can be made in cash or, upon notification to the holders, in shares of Company common stock, provided certain conditions are
satisfied or holders of Preferred Shares agree to waive the conditions for that payment period. If the conditions are not satisfied, the Company must make
payments in cash. Payments which are made in stock will be made in shares which are freely tradable. The price of the shares will be calculated based on
92% of the average of the lowest 5 days’ volume weighted average prices of the 20 trading days prior to the payment date, and the shares are delivered in
tranches beginning in advance of the applicable payment date. As of December 31, 2011, the Company had issued 5,157,732 shares of Company common
stock in payment of monthly dividends and principal, including required advanced payments.

The Company may pre-pay the outstanding balance of the Preferred Shares in full or in part (in increments of no less than $1.0 million) at 115% of the
then outstanding balance, reducing to 110% after November 19, 2011, with notice of not less than thirty days and adequate opportunity to convert. If the
Company chooses to pre-pay, the outstanding balance must be paid in cash and the premium may be paid in cash or shares of Company common stock.

Upon issuance, the Preferred Shares were convertible at an initial conversion price of $2.0004. The conversion price is subject to certain weighted
average adjustments upon the occurrence of specific events, including stock dividends, stock splits, combinations and reclassifications of the Company’s
common stock and if (with certain exceptions) the Company issues or sells any additional shares of common stock or common stock equivalents at a price per
share less than the conversion price then in effect, or without consideration. As of December 31, 2011, the conversion price had been adjusted to $1.67.

An aggregate of $2.5 million of the proceeds from the Preferred Offering was placed in escrow for a maximum of 2.5 years as security for the Company’s
obligations relative to the Preferred Shares, and is included in other assets.

The characteristics of the Series E Preferred Stock: cumulative dividends, mandatory redemption, no voting rights, and callable by the Company, require
that this instrument be treated as mezzanine equity. The Company bifurcated the fair value of the embedded conversion options and redemption options from
the preferred stock since the conversion options and certain redemption options were determined to not be clearly and closely related to the Series E Preferred
Stock. The Company recorded the fair value of the embedded conversion and redemption options as long-term derivative liabilities as the conversion price is
not fixed and the forced redemption option contains substantial premiums over the stated dividend rate for the preferred stock. The Company also recorded
the fair value of the warrants as a long-term derivative liability as the number of warrant shares and exercise price of the warrants is not fixed. The Series E
Preferred Stock was discounted by the fair value of the derivatives liabilities. The fair value of the preferred stock (net of issuance costs and discounts), the
embedded derivatives, and warrant derivative were approximately $4.8 million, $392,000 and $83,000, respectively, as of December 31, 2011. The Company
will report changes in the fair value of the embedded derivatives and warrant derivative in earnings within other income (expense), net. The discount and
issuance costs on the preferred stock will be amortized through May 20, 2013 using the effective interest method and will be reflected within interest expense.
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded a decrease in the fair value of the embedded derivatives of approximately $1.9
million and a decrease in the warrant derivative of approximately $193,000.
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Note 9 — Shareholders’ Equity
Common Stock:
The authorized common stock of the Company is 500 million shares, par value $0.001 per share.

The Company raised an aggregate of approximately $6.3 million in a series of private placements consummated from March 2011 to July 2011 pursuant
to which 18 persons and entities acquired an aggregate of 4,938,125 shares of Common Stock (purchase price of $1.28 per share). The investors included
Steven. S. Myers (one of the Company’s directors) (who purchased 390,625 shares) and Dr. Andrew L. Pecora (the Chief Medical Officer of the Company’s
subsidiary PCT, who is now the Chief Medical Officer and a director of NeoStem, and the Chief Scientific Officer of Amorcyte) (who purchased 78,125
shares).

On July 22, 2011, the Company completed an underwritten offering of 13,750,000 units at a purchase price of $1.20 per unit, with each unit consisting of
one share of Common Stock and a five year warrant to purchase 0.75 of a share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.45 per share (the “Offering”).
The Company sold securities in the Offering under the Company’s previously filed shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (333-173855), which was
declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 13, 2011. Lazard Capital Markets LLC (“Lazard”) and JMP Securities LLC (“JMP”)
acted as representatives of the underwriters named in an Underwriting Agreement, dated as of July 19, 2011, by and among the Company, Lazard, JMP and
such underwriters. The Company received gross proceeds of $16.5 million, prior to deducting underwriting discounts and offering expenses payable by the
Company, for net proceeds of approximately $14.8 million.

On September 28, 2011, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with Aspire Capital Fund, LLC,
an Illinois limited liability company (“Aspire Capital”), which provides that, subject to certain terms and conditions, Aspire Capital is committed to purchase
up to an aggregate of $20.0 million worth of shares of the Company’s common stock over the 24-month term of the Purchase Agreement. At the Company’s
discretion, it may present Aspire Capital with purchase notices under the Purchase Agreement from time to time, to purchase the Company’s Common Stock,
provided certain price and other requirements are met. The purchase price for the shares of stock will be based upon one of two formulas set forth in the
Purchase Agreement depending on the type of purchase notice we submit to Aspire Capital from time to time, and will be based on market prices of the
Company’s common stock (in the case of regular purchases) or a discount of 5% applied to volume weighted average prices (in the case of VWAP purchases),
in each case as determined by parameters defined in the agreement. The Company and Aspire Capital shall not effect any sales under the Purchase Agreement
on any date where the closing sales price is less than 75% of the closing sales price on the business day immediately preceding the date of the Purchase
Agreement. The Company’s net proceeds will depend on the purchase price and the frequency of the Company’s sales of shares to Aspire Capital; provided,
however, that the maximum aggregate proceeds from sales of shares is $20.0 million. As of December 31, 2011, the maximum number of shares that may be
sold may not exceed 18,747,906 shares unless shareholder approval is obtained. On February 17, 2012, the maximum number of shares that may be sold had
been reduced to 15,282,502 pursuant to rules of the NYSE Amex. The Company’s delivery of purchase notices will be made subject to market conditions, in
light of the Company’s capital needs from time to time and under the limitations contained in the Purchase Agreement. As consideration for entering into the
Purchase Agreement, effective September 30, 2011, we issued 990,099 shares of our Common Stock to Aspire Capital (the “Commitment Shares”). The
issuance of shares of common stock to Aspire Capital pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, including the Commitment Shares, and the sale of those shares
from time to time by Aspire Capital to the public, are covered by an effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3.

On February 18, 2010, the Company completed a public offering of its common stock, selling 5,750,000 shares priced at $1.35 per share. The Company
received approximately $6.8 million in net proceeds from the offering, after underwriting discounts, commissions and expenses, of approximately $941,000.

Effective March 15, 2010, RimAsia exercised a warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of restricted Common Stock. This warrant was issued to RimAsia
in a private placement completed by the Company in September 2008. The exercise price was $1.75 per share, resulting in proceeds to the Company of $1.75
million. In connection therewith, the Company modified certain terms of RimAsia’s Series D Warrant to purchase 4,000,000 shares of Common Stock.

On May 17, 2010, RimAsia, the holder of 8,177,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock issued by the Company in connection with the Erye Merger, at its
option, converted its 8,177,512 shares of Series C Preferred Stock into 9,086,124 shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion rate of 0.90 shares
of Series C Preferred Stock for 1.0 shares of the Company’s common stock.

On May 19, 2010, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement with Commerce Court Small Cap Value Fund, Ltd., which provided
that, subject to certain terms and conditions, Commerce Court is committed to purchase up t0$20.0 million worth of shares of the Company’s common stock
over a term of approximately 24 months. The Purchase Agreement provided that at the Company’s discretion, it may present Commerce Court with draw
down notices under this $20 million equity
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line of credit arrangement from time to time, to purchase the Company’s Common Stock, provided certain price requirements are met and limited to 2.5% of
the Company’s market capitalization at the time of such draw down, which may be waived or modified. The per share purchase price for these shares will
equal the daily volume weighted average price of the Company’s common stock on each date during the draw down period on which shares are purchased,
less a discount of 5.0%. The Purchase Agreement also provided that the Company in its sole discretion may grant Commerce Court the right to exercise one
or more options to purchase additional shares of Common Stock during each draw down period at a price which would be based on a discount calculated in
the same manner as it is calculated in the draw down notice. The issuance of shares of common stock to Commerce Court pursuant to the Purchase
Agreement, and the sale of those shares from time to time by Commerce Court to the public, were covered by an effective registration statement on Form S-3
filed with the SEC. On September 28, 2011, the Company gave notice to Commerce Court of termination of the Purchase Agreement.

On May 27, 2010, the Company presented Commerce Court with a Draw Down Notice. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the shares were offered at a
discount price to Commerce Court mutually agreed upon by the parties under the Purchase Agreement equal to 95.0% of the daily volume weighted average
price of the common stock during the Pricing Period or a 5% discount. Pursuant to the Draw Down Notice, the Company also granted Commerce Court the
right to exercise one or more options to purchase additional shares of common stock during the Pricing Period, based on the trading price of the common
stock. The Company settled with Commerce Court on the purchase of 685,226 shares of common stock under the terms of the Draw Down Notice and the
Purchase Agreement at an aggregate purchase price of $1,800,000, or approximately $2.63 per share, on June 7, 2010. The Company and Commerce Court
agreed to waive the minimum threshold price of $3.00 per share set forth in the Purchase Agreement. The Company received net proceeds from the sale of
these shares of approximately $1,744,000 after deducting its offering expenses.

On June 1, 2010, Fullbright Finance Limited exercised a warrant to purchase 400,000 shares of restricted Common Stock. This warrant was issued to
Fullbright in a private placement of securities by the Company in November 2008. The exercise price was$1.75 per share, resulting in proceeds to the
Company of $700,000.

On June 25, 2010, the Company entered into definitive securities purchase agreements with investors in a registered direct public offering, pursuant to
which such investors agreed to purchase, and the Company agreed to sell, an aggregate of 2,325,582 Units, consisting of an aggregate of 2,325,582 shares of
common stock and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 581,394 shares of common stock. The offering closed on June 30, 2010 with gross proceeds of $5.0
million. Each Unit was priced at $2.15 and consisted of one share of common stock and a warrant which will allow the investor to purchase 0.25 shares of
common stock at a per share price of $2.75. The warrants may be called by the Company in the event that the common stock trades over $4.50 per share for
10 consecutive trading days. Subject to certain ownership limitations, the warrants will be exercisable on the date of the closing and will expire 2 years
thereafter. The number of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants and the exercise price of the warrants are adjustable in the event of
stock dividends, splits, recapitalizations, reclassifications, combinations or exchanges of shares, reorganizations, liquidations, consolidation, acquisition of the
Company (whether through merger or acquisition of substantially all the assets or stock of the Company) or similar events. The issuance of the securities in
this offering was registered on a registration statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC. Rodman & Renshaw LLC acted as the Company’s placement agent in
this offering and received a total payment of $340,000in fees and expenses and Placement Agent Warrants to purchase up to 93,023 shares of the Company’s
Common Stock at an exercise price of $2.6875 per share expiring May 10, 2015. The Placement Agent Warrants are not covered by the Form S-3. The net
proceeds to the Company from such offering, after deducting the Placement Agent’s fees and expenses, the Company’s offering expenses, and excluding the
proceeds, if any, from the exercise of the warrants issued in the offering were approximately $4.5 million.

On July 27, 2010, consistent with the Company’s previously disclosed intention to provide support for The Stem for Life Foundation, a Pennsylvania
nonprofit corporation classified as a tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and as
a public charity under Section 509(a)(1) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi) of the Code (the “Foundation”), whose mission is to promote public awareness, fund research
and development and subsidize stem cell collection and storage programs, the Company issued to the Foundation 150,000 shares of restricted common stock
with a fair value of $298,500. The issuance of such securities was subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, Audit Committee and the NYSE Amex.
On July 2, 2010, the Company also contributed $75,000 in cash to the Foundation. The Company’s CEO and Chairman is President and a Trustee of the
Foundation, its General Counsel is Secretary and a Trustee of the Foundation and its Chief Financial Officer is Treasurer of the Foundation.

On September 30, 2010, a warrant holder exercised a warrant to purchase 600,000 shares of Common Stock. The exercise price was $.78 per share,
resulting in proceeds to the Company of $468,000.

On November 16, 2010, the Company entered into an Underwriting Agreement with Cowen and Company, LLC, relating to a public offering by the
Company of 6,337,980 units, consisting of one share of the Company’s common stock, and a warrant to
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purchase 0.50 of a share of Common Stock. The public offering price for each Underwritten Unit was $1.45 and the net proceeds were $8.1 million. Each
Underwritten Warrant will have an exercise price of $1.85 per share, will be exercisable six months after issuance and will expire five years from the date of
issuance.

On December 7, 2010, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with a business partner involved in the development of the Company’s platform
research organization in China, whereby the business partner relinquished rights t0407,626shares of common stock. As a result of this settlement, the
Company recorded other income of $656,300, which represented the fair market value of the shares on the day the shares were relinquished.

Warrants

The Company has issued common stock purchase warrants from time to time to investors in private placements and public offerings, and to certain
vendors, underwriters, placement agents and consultants of the Company. A total of 37,389,825 shares of common stock are reserved for issuance upon
exercise of outstanding warrants as of December 31, 2011 at prices ranging from $0.56 to $7.00 and expiring through October 2018.

During the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company issued warrants for services as follows ($ in thousands, except share data):

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010
Number of Common Stock Purchase Warrants Issued 670,000 627,000
Value of Common Stock Purchase Warrants Issued $ 495.1 $ 772.2

The weighted average estimated fair value of warrants issued for services in the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $0.74 and $1.23,
respectively. The fair value of warrants at the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expected volatility is based upon
historical volatility of the Company’s stock. The expected term is based upon the contractual term of the warrants.

The range of assumptions made in calculating the fair values of warrants issued for services was as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010
Expected term - minimum (in years) 3 3
Expected term - maximum (in years) 5 5
Expected volatility - minimum 80% 86%
Expected volatility - maximum 86% 124%
Expected dividend yield — —
Risk-free interest rate - minimum 0.78% 0.64%
Risk-free interest rate - maximum 2.19% 2.65%

Activity related to warrants outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was as follows:
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Weighted

Average
Weighted Remaining
Number of Average Contractual Aggregate
Shares Exercise Price Term (years) Intrinsic Value
Balance at December 31, 2009 19,838,802 3.00
Granted 5,792,896 1.99
Exercised (2,025,000) 1.46
Expired (1,613,191) 6.54
Canceled (150,000) 2.78
Balance at December 31, 2010 21,843,507 2.62
Granted 15,993,947 2.09
Exercised — —
Expired (447,629) 6.18
Canceled — —
Balance at December 31, 2011 37,389,825 2.35 3.87 $ —
At December 31, 2011, the outstanding warrants by range of exercise prices were as follows:
Warrants Outstanding Warrants Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted
Range of Shares Contractual Average Shares Contractual Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life (years) Exercise Price Exercisable Life (years) Exercise Price
$0.56 — $1.45 11,263,500 45 $ 1.42 10,805,500 45 $ 1.44
$1.46 — $2.10 7,933,635 4.0 1.75 7,933,635 4.0 1.75
$2.11 - $2.53 13,032,512 3.3 2.50 13,032,512 3.3 2.50
$2.54 — $5.99 2,929,928 4.5 3.73 2,929,928 4.5 3.73
$6.00 — $7.00 2,230,250 34 6.51 1,230,250 1.2 6.11
37,389,825 39 § 2.35 35,931,825 38 § 2.24

The Company’s results include share-based compensation expense of approximately $282,200 and $474,900 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively. The total fair value of shares vested for warrants issued for services during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, was
approximately $269,100 and $450,800, respectively. As of December 31, 2011, there was approximately $91,500 of total unrecognized service cost related to
unvested warrants of which approximately $73,900 is related to warrants that vest over a weighted average life of 1.04years. The remaining balance of
unrecognized service cost of $17,600 is related to warrants that vest based on the accomplishment of business milestones as to which expense begins to be
recognized when such milestones become probable of being achieved.

Options

The Company’s 2003 Equity Participation Plan (the “2003 Equity Plan”) permits the grant of share options and shares to its employees, directors,
consultants and advisors for up to 2,500,000 shares of Common Stock as stock-based compensation. The 2009 Equity Compensation Plan (the “2009 Equity
Plan”) makes up to 23,750,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company (as of December 31, 2011) available for issuance to employees, consultants,
advisors and directors of the Company and its subsidiaries pursuant to incentive or non-statutory stock options, restricted and unrestricted stock awards and
stock appreciation rights.

All stock options under the 2003 Equity Plan and the 2009 Equity Plan are granted at the fair market value of the Common Stock at the grant date. Stock

options vest either on the date of grant, ratably over a period determined at time of grant, or upon the accomplishment of specified business milestones, and
generally expire 3, 5 or 10 years from the grant date depending on the status of the recipient as a consultant, advisor, employee or director of the Company.
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The 2009 Equity Plan was originally adopted by the shareholders of the Company on May 8, 2009. On October 29, 2009, the shareholders of the
Company approved an amendment to the 2009 Equity Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance thereunder from
3,800,000 to 9,750,000. At the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company held on June 2, 2010, the shareholders approved an amendment to
increase this number to 13,750,000. At a Special Meeting of Shareholders of the Company held on January 18, 2011, the shareholders approved an
amendment to increase this number to 17,750,000. At the 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company held on October 14, 2011, the shareholders
approved an amendment to increase this number to 23,750,000.

The 2003 Equity Plan and the 2009 Equity Plan are sometimes collectively referred to as the Company’s “U.S. Equity Plan.” The Company’s 2009 Non-
U.S. Based Equity Compensation Plan (“Non-U.S. Plan”) makes up to 5,700,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company available for issuance. Persons
eligible to receive restricted and unrestricted stock awards, options, stock appreciation rights or other awards under the Non-U.S. Plan are those service
providers to the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates providing services outside of the United States, including employees and consultants of the
Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates, who, in the opinion of the Compensation Committee, are in a position to contribute to the Company’s success.
Options vest either on the date of grant, ratably over a period determined at time of grant, or upon the accomplishment of specified business milestones, and
generally expire 3, 5 or 10 years from the grant date depending on the status of the recipient as a consultant, advisor, employee or director of the Company.

The Non-U.S. Plan was originally adopted by the shareholders of the Company on October 29, 2009. At the 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the
Company held on June 2, 2010, the shareholders approved an amendment to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance
thereunder from 4,700,000 to 8,700,000. Effective October 14, 2011, concurrent with shareholder approval to increase the number of shares of common stock
authorized for issuance under the 2009 Equity Plan by 6,000,000, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a decrease in the shares available for issuance
under the Non-U.S. Plan from 8,700,000 to 5,700,000.

The Company’s results include share-based compensation expense of approximately $6,923,000 and $6,324,500 for the years ended December 31, 2011
and 2010, respectively. Options vesting on the accomplishment of business milestones will not be recognized for compensation purposes until such
milestones are deemed probable of accomplishment. At December 31, 2011 there were options to purchase 605,000 shares outstanding that will vest upon the
accomplishment of business milestones and will be accounted for as an operating expense when such business milestones are deemed probable of
accomplishment.

On April 4, 2011, the Company entered into an amendment of its May 26, 2006 employment agreement with Dr. Robin L. Smith, pursuant to which, as
previously amended (the “Agreement”), Dr. Smith serves as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Pursuant to the amendment,
among other things, Dr. Smith was granted an option to purchase 1,500,000 shares of Common Stock at a per share exercise price equal to the closing price of
the Common Stock on the date of the amendment, vesting as t0500,000 and 500,000 shares on each of the date of grant, December 31, 2011 and December
31, 2012, all other unvested options held by Dr. Smith were immediately vested, and any vested options previously or hereafter granted to Dr. Smith during
the remainder of the term shall remain exercisable following termination of employment for the full option term until the expiration date. Pursuant to the
modification on April 4, 2011 of Dr. Smith’s stock options, the Company recognized $722,900 of incremental compensation cost during the twelve months
ended December 31, 2011.

The weighted average estimated fair value of stock options granted in the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $1.06 and $1.59, respectively.
The fair value of options at the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The expected volatility is based upon historical
volatility of the Company’s stock. The expected term is based upon observation of actual time elapsed between date of grant and exercise of options for all
employees.

The range of assumptions made in calculating the fair values of options was as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010
Expected term - minimum (in years) 3 2
Expected term - maximum (in years) 10 10
Expected volatility - minimum 79% 86%
Expected volatility - maximum 85% 122%
Expected dividend yield = =
Risk-free interest rate - minimum 0.4% 0.34%
Risk-free interest rate - maximum 3.45% 3.8%
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Activity related to stock options outstanding under the U.S. Equity Plan was as follows:

Balance at December 31,

2009
Granted
Exercised
Expired
Canceled

Balance at December 31,

2010
Granted
Exercised
Expired
Canceled

Balance at December 31,

2011

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Number of Average Contractual Aggregate
Shares Exercise Price Term (years) Intrinsic Value
8,340,574 1.87
1,955,000 1.85
(90,000) 1.56
(273,360) 1.86
9,932,214 1.87
8,047,600 1.48
(5,000) 1.42
(850,523) 1.92
(2,080,786) 1.71
15,043,505 $ 1.68 73 $ —

At December 31, 2011, the outstanding options under the U.S. Equity Plan by range of exercise prices were as follows:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted Average Weighted Average
Range of Remaining Remaining

. . Shares Contractual Life ~ Weighted Average Contractual Life ~ Weighted Average

Exercise Prices Outstanding (years) Exercise Price Shares Exercisable (years) Exercise Price
$0.52 — $0.71 1,123,000 7.7 0.67 170,002 72§ 0.69
$0.72 — $1.50 2,879,700 8.6 1.46 422,500 6.1 1.36
$1.51 - $1.80 6,629,000 7.9 1.71 4,826,252 7.8 1.71
$1.81 - $2.00 2,874,255 4.6 1.91 2,705,994 4.6 191
$2.01 - $15.00 1,537,550 7.0 2.29 1,430,883 6.9 2.30
15,043,505 73 $ 1.68 9,555,631 6.7 $ 1.82

Activity related to stock options outstanding under the Non-U.S. Plan was as follows:
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Balance at December 31,
2009

Granted
Exercised
Expired
Canceled

Balance at December 31,
2010

Granted
Exercised
Expired
Canceled

Balance at December 31,
2011

Weighted

Weighted Average
Number of Average Remaining Aggregate
Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Intrinsic Value

1,650,000 2.04
2,000,000 2.01
(550,000) 2.04
3,100,000 2.02
650,000 1.74
(366,666) 2.04
(1,283,334) 2.00

2,100,000 $ 1.95 822 $ —

At December 31, 2011, the outstanding options under the Non-U.S. Plan by range of exercise prices were as follows:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted Average Weighted Average
Range of Remaining Remaining

. . Shares Contractual Life ~ Weighted Average Contractual Life ~ Weighted Average

Exercise Prices Outstanding (years) Exercise Price Shares Exercisable (years) Exercise Price
$1.42 - $1.70 700,000 87 $ 1.62 200,000 87 $ 1.65
$1.71 - $2.08 350,000 7.3 1.74 175,000 7.3 1.74
$2.09 — $2.22 650,000 8.1 2.16 250,000 8.2 2.16
$2.23 - $2.36 400,000 8.5 2.36 300,000 8.5 2.36
2,100,000 82 §$ 1.95 925,000 82 §$ 2.04

The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was approximately $6,194,100 and $6,191,800, respectively.

As of December 31, 2011, there was approximately $4,034,900 of total unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested stock option awards of
which approximately $3,995,600 is related to stock options that vest over a weighted average life of 1.82 years. The remaining balance of unrecognized
compensation costs of $39,300 is related to stock options that vest based on the accomplishment of business milestones which expense begins to be
recognized when such milestones become probable of being achieved.

Restricted Stock

During the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company issued restricted stock for services as follows ($ in thousands, except share data):

Number of Restricted Stock Issued

Value of Restricted Stock Issued

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010
3,467,451 338,599
$ 3,580.6 $ 569.5

The weighted average estimated fair value of restricted stock issued for services in the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $1.03and $1.68,
respectively. The fair value of the restricted stock was determined using the Company’s closing stock price on the date of issuance. The vesting terms of
restricted stock issuances are generally within one year. The Company’s results include share-based compensation expense of approximately $2,791,100 and
$567,700, for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. As of December 31, 2011, there was approximately $339,400 of unrecognized

service cost related to
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unvested restricted stock.

Share Remaining Under Equity Plans

The number of remaining shares authorized to be issued under the various equity plans are as follows:

Shares Authorized for Issuance under 2003 Equity Plan
Shares Authorized for Issuance under 2009 Equity Plan
Shares Authorized for Issuance under Non-U.S. Plan

Total Share Authorized for Issuance
Outstanding Options — U.S. Equity Plan
Exercised Options
Outstanding Options — Non-U.S. Plan
Restricted stock or equity grants issued under Equity Plans

Total common shares remaining to be issued under the Equity
Plans

Equity Plan Non-U.S. Plan
2,500,000 —
23,750,000 —
— 5,700,000
26,250,000 5,700,000
(15,043,505)
(97,500) —
(2,100,000)
(3,398,573) (885,000)
7,710,422 2,715,000

Note 10 — Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is determined by applying the U.S. Federal statutory rate of 34% to income before income taxes as a result of the following:

U.S. Federal benefit at statutory rate
State and local benefit net of U.S. federal tax
Permanent non deductible expenses for U.S. taxes

Reduction in deferred tax assets primarily related to deductibility of
certain share-based compensation

True-up of prior year net operating loss

Foreign earnings not permanently reinvested

Effect of change in deferred tax rate

Writedown of net operating losses due to Section 382 limitations
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

Tax provision

Deferred income taxes at December 31, 2011 and 2010 consist of the following:
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Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010
(12,005.5) $ (8,800.3)
(2,177.0) (2,509.4)
5,907.3 1,838.1
(72.4) 2,938.6
1,367.3 (413.6)
1,810.3 —
2,852.1 —
— 1,932.6
2,317.9 5,014.0
— % —




December 31,

2011 2010
Deferred Tax Assets:
Accumulated net operating losses (tax
effected) $ 17,816.7 $ 17,236.0
Deferred revenue 212.9 149.0
Contingent accounts payable 13.8 26.0
Share-based compensation 3,917.4 2,393.0
Charitable contributions 408.2 176.0
Bad debt provision 107.3 17.0
Goodwill — 164.0
Other 48.5 —
Deferred tax assets prior to tax credit
carryovers 22,524.8 20,161.0
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Accumulated depreciation (155.1) (80.0)
Intangible and indefinite lived assets (3,303.0) —
Foreign earnings not permanently reinvested (2,138.5) —
Deferred tax liabilities (5,596.6) (80.0)

16,928.2 20,081.0

Valuation reserve (20,702.9) (20,081.0)
Net deferred tax liability $ (3,774.7) $ —

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 enacted a complex set of rules limiting the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL”) to offset future taxable
income following a corporate ownership change. The Company’s ability to utilize its NOL carryforwards is limited following a change in ownership in excess
of fifty percentage points during any three-year period.

Since the year 2000, the Company has had several changes in ownership which has resulted in a limitation on the Company’s ability to apply net
operating losses to future taxable income. As of December 31, 2011 the Company has lost $25,994,800 or $8,838,200 in tax benefits, of net operating losses
applicable to Federal income taxes which expired due to these limitations and expiration of net operating loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2011, the
Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $47,427,300 applicable to future Federal income taxes. The tax loss carryforwards are
subject to annual limitations and expire at various dates through 2030. The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax asset
because it is more likely than not that such deferred tax assets will be not realized.

The Company has provided deferred income taxes for the estimated U.S. federal and foreign income tax effects of earnings of subsidiaries expected to be
distributed to the Company. Deferred income taxes have been provided on approximately $5,324,300 of undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries
as such amounts are not considered to be permanently reinvested.

Note 11 — Discontinued Operations

Regenerative Medicine - China Segment

In 2009, the Company began its Regenerative Medicine-China business in the People's Republic of China (China” or PRC”) through its subsidiary, a
wholly foreign owned entity (WFOE”) and entered into contractual arrangements with certain variable interest entities (VIEs”). Foreign companies have
commonly used VIE structures to operate in the PRC, and while such structures are not uncommon, recently they have drawn greater scrutiny from the local
Chinese business community in the PRC who have urged the PRC State Council to more tightly regulate these structures. In addition, in December 2011,
China's Ministry of Health announced its intention to more tightly regulate stem cell clinical trials and stem cell therapeutic treatments in the PRC, which has
created uncertainty regarding the ultimate regulatory environment in the PRC. Accordingly, the Company took steps to restrict, and ultimately eliminated, its
regenerative medicine business in the PRC. In the first quarter of 2012, the Company concluded that as a result of these steps, the operations in its
Regenerative Medicine-China business were discontinued. The Company has determined that any liability arising from the activities of the WFOE and the
VIEs will likely be limited to the net assets currently held by each entity.
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The operations and cash flows of the Regenerative Medicine - China business will be eliminated from ongoing operations as a result of our exit decision.
The Company expects to have no continuing involvement in this business going forward. The operating results of the Regenerative Medicine - China business
for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, which are included in discontinued operations, were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010
Revenue $ 2743 $ 55.9
Cost of revenues (140.6) (36.0)
Research and development (378.3) (112.4)
Selling, general, and administrative (3,089.9) (1,408.2)
Other income (expense) 9.7) (63.8)
Loss from discontinued operations $ (3,344.2) $ (1,564.5)

The summary of the assets and liabilities related to discontinued operations as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, were as follows (in
thousands):

December 31,

2011 2010

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1033 $ 2,308.4
Accounts receivable, net — 26.2
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 284.4 214.5
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,256.8 2,331.6
Other Assets 149.0 69.1

$ 1,7935 $ 4,949.8
Accounts payable $ 1778 $ 53.5
Accrued liabilities 31.0 29.3

$ 2088 $ 82.8

Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China Segment

On June 18, 2012, the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement to sell its 51% interest in Erye for approximately $12.3 million
in cash and the return to the Company of (i) 1,040,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock and (ii) the cancellation of 1,170,000 options and 640,000
Common Stock warrants. The closing of the transaction is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions. Closing of the transaction is expected to occur by
the fourth quarter of 2012.

The operations and cash flows of the Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China business will be eliminated from ongoing operations with the sale of the
Company's 51% interest in Erye. The operating results of the Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China business for the years ended December 31, 2011 and
2010, which are included in discontinued operations, were as follows (in thousands):
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Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010
Revenue $ 63,393.6 $ 69,584.3
Cost of revenues (47,186.8) (49,639.4)
Research and development (2,904.1) (1,564.0)
Selling, general, and administrative (11,068.2) (9,905.0)
Goodwill impairment (19,432.7) —
Other income (expense) (1,081.4) 51.9
Provision for income taxes (392.8) (550.9)
(Loss) income from discontinued operations $ (18,672.4) $ 7,976.9

The summary of the assets and liabilities related to discontinued operations as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, were as follows (in
thousands):

December 31,

2011 2010

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,707.0 $ 4,834.9
Restricted cash — 3,381.4
Accounts receivable, net 5,525.7 5,817.1
Inventory 16,505.7 21,023.4
Deferred income taxes 463.7 —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 777.5 457.2
Property, plant and equipment, net 36,490.4 34,231.2
Land use rights, net 4,872.4 4,807.8
Goodwill 8,495.7 27,002.0
Intangible assets, net 21,846.4 23,903.2
Other Assets 2,459.9 —

$ 106,144.4 $ 125,458.2
Accounts payable $ 7,950.3 $ 13,637.8
Accrued liabilities 1,705.8 2,067.8
Bank loans 15,712.0 3,034.0
Notes payable — 9,451.5
Income tax payable 621.6 1,242.9
Deferred income taxes 6,177.4 6,191.6
Unearned revenue 1,315.4 1,648.9
Amount due from related parties 20,862.7 8,301.4

$ 54,3452 $ 45,575.9

Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China Segment Related Party Transactions

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, Erye owed EET, the 49% shareholder of Erye, $20,862,700 and $8,301,400, respectively, which represents dividends
paid and loaned back to Erye. At December 31, 2011 and 2010 the interest rate on this loan was 6.56% and 5.31%, respectively. In June 2011 Erye paid EET
approximately $875,100 consisting of the net of the following: $1,115,000 of unpaid accrued interest at June 30, 2011, approximately $408,700 repayment of
a non interest bearing loan due in 2011 and recovery of cash advances to EET of approximately $648,600. In December 2011 Erye paid EET approximately
$125,100 of unpaid accrued interest with bank draft due in June 2012. In February 2010, Erye made an interest payment of approximately $198,500 to EET.
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Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the October 2009 Erye Joint Venture Agreement, dividend distributions to EET and the Company’s subsidiary
will be made in proportion to their respective ownership interests in Erye; provided, however, that for the three-year period commencing on the first day of
the first fiscal quarter after the Joint Venture Agreement became effective distributions are made as follows: for undistributed profits generated subsequent to
the acquisition date: (i) the 49% of undistributed profits (after tax) of the joint venture due EET will be distributed to EET and lent back to Erye to help
finance costs in connection with its construction of and relocation to a new facility (to be repaid gradually after construction is completed); and (ii) of the net
profit (after tax) of the joint venture due the Company, 45% will be provided to Erye as part of the new facility construction fund and will be characterized as
additional paid-in capital for the Company’s 51% interest in Erye, and 6% will be distributed to the Company. For undistributed profits generated prior to the
acquisition date: (i) the 49% of undistributed profits (after tax) of the joint venture due EET will be distributed to EET and lent back to Erye to help finance
costs in connection with its construction of and relocation to a new facility (to be repaid gradually after construction is completed); and (ii) of the net profit
(after tax) of the joint venture due the Company, 51% will be provided to Erye as part of the new facility construction fund and will be characterized as
additional paid-in capital for the Company’s 51% interest in Erye. It was contemplated by the Joint Venture Agreement that the construction would continue
for three years. As such, 45% of the dividend we would be entitled to by reason of our 51% ownership would remain in Erye through 2012 to complete the
construction while EET would loan back their dividend during the same period at a prevailing bank interest rate. Upon a liquidity event of Erye, as
contemplated in the joint venture agreement, the Company will be entitled to the return of its dividend reinvestments to the extent of the proceeds generated
by the liquidity event. Repayment of such loans from EET would occur gradually after the construction is completed. In January 2011, a dividend totaling
approximately $13,671,100 based on earnings for Fiscal Year 2009 was declared and approximately $6,698,800 was distributed to EET and lent back to Erye
and approximately $6,972,300 due the Company was reinvested and re-characterized as additional paid-in capital in the business. In April 2011, a dividend
totaling $10,259,700 based on earnings for Fiscal Year 2010 was declared and approximately $5,027,300 was distributed to EET and lent back to Erye, and
approximately $5,232,400 due the Company was reinvested and re-characterized as additional paid-in capital in the business. A 10% withholding tax was
required on dividends payable to the Company. As a result, Erye withheld approximately $1,220,500 in taxes related to the Company’s Fiscal Year 2009 and
2010 dividend amounts, and such amount has been paid to the local Chinese tax authorities as of December 31, 2011.

Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China Segment Contingencies

Chinese regulatory approvals — The Company has determined that it did not obtain all Chinese regulatory approvals (and associated registrations)
required to reflect the legal title of its interest in Erye as being held by the proper entity within our group which is its current beneficial owner as that term is
used under U.S. law. The Company believes it has now determined what governmental approvals (and associated registrations) will need to be issued by the
Suzhou Municipal Bureau of Foreign Investment and Commerce and the Suzhou Administration for Industry and Commerce to remediate these deficiencies
and the Company has had counsel in China prepare these filings. The Company’s management believes these regulatory deficiencies can be remediated and
should not delay a possible divestiture of the Company’s interests in Erye that is currently under evaluation. However, the Company requires the cooperation
of the officers of Erye, as to which no assurance can be given, and we could be compelled to seek to replace those officers or to commence legal action to
obtain the required consents or otherwise move forward with requisite filings. In addition, even if the filings are made, no assurance can be given that any
unremediated regulatory deficiencies would not have an adverse effect on the operating results and liquidity of Erye and the Company and will not impede or
delay efforts to divest the Company’s interest in Erye. In addition, the remediation process is expected to trigger certain tax liabilities and penalties, however
the ultimate liability will be based on future discussions with the relevant Chinese authorities. The Company cannot reasonably assess the exposure as of
December 31, 2011.

Xiangbei Welman Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. v Suzhou Erye Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. and Hunan Weichu Pharmacy Co., Ltd. involves a patent
infringement dispute with respect to a particular antibiotics complex manufactured by Erye (the “Product”).The Changsha Intermediate Court ruled in
Welman’s favor at first and Erye appealed the judgment to the Hunan High Court. Meanwhile, the Supreme Court of PRC has recently rendered a final ruling
that Welman is not entitled to the patent right disputed under the said case. On that basis, the Hunan High Court awarded on January 16, 2012 that Welman’s
suit against Erye on that patent infringement is rejected. The initial judgment was rendered on May 13, 2010 in the amount of approximately 5 million RMB
(approximately $778,500), which was fully accrued for at September 30, 2011 and reversed in the fourth quarter of 2011 based on these subsequent rulings.

In 2009, Welman brought a copyright infringement lawsuit against Erye claiming the package inserts with respect to the Product infringed upon their
copyright. Erye was enjoined from copying and using the package inserts on the Product and selling the Product with the package inserts and Welman was
awarded RMB 50,000. Erye has filed application for a retrial of the previous lawsuit brought by Welman to the Hunan High Court, and the said application
has been accepted for filing by the court.
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In July 2011, a new copyright infringement lawsuit was brought by Welman against Erye claiming that Erye was not complying with the earlier judgment
enjoining them from copying and using the package inserts for the Product. The Changsha Intermediate Court was applied to for property preservation and it
issued a civil decision to freeze Erye’s bank deposit of up to RMB 50 million (approximately US $7.9 million), or to seal up or detain Erye’s other properties
of equal value. As of December 31, 2011, approximately 15,656,000 RMB (approximately $2,460,000) of cash had been frozen in six Erye bank accounts,
and is classified in Other Assets. Erye has contended that jurisdiction is not proper, and the case is now in review of the Hunan High Court.

A similar copyright infringement lawsuit was recently instituted by Welman against Erye in the Guangzhou Intermediate Court to (i) enjoin Erye from
copying and using the package inserts from the Product and selling the drugs with the aforesaid package inserts; and (ii) award Welman economic losses of
approximately RMB 2,000,000 (approximately US $320,000) against Erye and the case is being reviewed by the Court. Welman made an application for
preliminary injunction to prohibit Erye from copying and using the package inserts from the Product and selling the drugs with the aforesaid package inserts
and Welman’s application was denied by the Court on September 6, 2011. Welman subsequently obtained a preliminary injunction from a lower court
Guangzhou Haizhu District Court on September 14, 2011. But on October 28, 2011, upon the appeal by Erye, the Haizhu District Court issued a decision
withdrawing the preliminary injunction.

Note 12 — Related Party Transactions

Pursuant to the PCT Merger Agreement, NeoStem agreed to pay off PCT’s credit line with Northern New Jersey Cancer Associates (“NNJCA”), in an
amount up to $3,000,000, shortly after the closing of the PCT Merger. On January 21, 2011, NeoStem paid NNJCA $3,000,000 in full satisfaction of all of
PCT’s obligations to NNJCA arising from the underlying line of credit and security agreement. Dr. Andrew Pecora (who was PCT’s Chairman and CEO prior
to the PCT Merger, and who became PCT’s Chief Medical Officer on January 19, 2011 pursuant to an employment agreement effective upon the closing of
the PCT Merger), has served as Managing Partner of NNJCA since 1996.

On July 13, 2011, NeoStem entered into the Agreement and Plan of Merger to acquire Amorcyte. Amorcyte had originally been incorporated as a
subsidiary of PCT and was spun off to PCT’s members prior to NeoStem’s January 19, 2011 acquisition of PCT. At the time the Agreement and Plan of
Merger was entered into, Dr. Pecora and Mr. Goldberger were officers of both PCT and Amorcyte. The Amorcyte acquisition closed on October 17, 2011.

In order to accelerate Amorcyte’s commencement of its Phase 2 clinical trial of AMR-001, NeoStem agreed to provide loans to Amorcyte prior to the
closing of the Amorcyte Merger to be used in connection with the Phase 2 trial. Pursuant to a Loan Agreement entered into on September 9, 2011, NeoStem
loaned Amorcyte prior to the closing of the Merger an aggregate of $338,500 which was applied towards the commencement of the Phase 2 trial.

Effective March 10, 2011, Matthew Henninger entered into a consulting agreement with PCT, pursuant to which Mr. Henninger was engaged for a three
month term to serve as an advisor to PCT with regard to the development of the “Family Plan,” a multi-generational stem cell collection and storage service.
In consideration therefor, Mr. Henninger was granted an option to purchase 150,000 shares of NeoStem Common Stock under the 2009 Plan at $1.60 per
share (Black Scholes value $129,000) vesting over the term of the agreement. Pursuant to an amendment and extension of this agreement in April and May,
2011, respectively, Mr. Henninger’s term of service was extended through September 9, 2011, for which he received 75,000 shares of NeoStem Common
Stock (market value $115,000), $5,000 per month for a three month period and reimbursement of health insurance premiums; in September 2011 the PCT
management with approval of the Audit Committee extended the term further through December 31, 2011, in connection with which Mr. Henninger received
a $25,000 bonus related to prior performance, a monthly fee of $10,000 and continued insurance reimbursement. Mr. Henninger is in an exclusive relationship
with the CEO of NeoStem.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company contributed to The Stem for Life Foundation, a Pennsylvania nonprofit corporation classified as
a tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and as a public charity under Section
509(a)(1) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi) of the Code (the “Foundation”), whose mission is to promote public awareness, fund research and development and subsidize
stem cell collection and storage programs, 407,600 shares of previously issued restricted common stock with a fair value of approximately $607,400. The
contribution of such securities was subject to the approval of the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee. The Company’s CEO and Chairman is
President and a Trustee of the Foundation, its General Counsel is Secretary and a Trustee of the Foundation and its Chief Financial Officer is Treasurer of the
Foundation.

Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases office and laboratory facilities and certain equipment under certain noncancelable operating leases that
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expire from time to time through 2017. A summary of future minimum rental payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining terms in
excess of one year as of December 31, 2011 are as follows (in thousands):

Lease Commitments:

Years ended Operating Leases

2012 $ 1,407.8
2013 832.7
2014 563.6
2015 553.7
2016 563.9
Thereafter 293.2
Total minimum lease payments $ 4,214.9

Expense incurred under operating leases was approximately $2.1 million and $889,000, for the years ended December 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Contingencies:

Under license agreements with third parties the Company is typically required to pay maintenance fees, make milestone payments and/or pay other fees
and expenses and pay royalties upon commercialization of products. The Company also sponsors research at various academic institutions, which research
agreements generally provide us with an option to license new technology discovered during the course of the sponsored research.

In connection with the issuance to investors and service providers of many of the shares of the Company’s common stock and warrants to purchase
common stock previously disclosed and described herein, the Company granted the holders registration rights providing for the registration of such shares of
common stock and shares of common stock underlying warrants on a registration statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) so as to permit the resale of those shares. Certain of the registration rights agreements provided for penalties for failure to file or failure to obtain an
effective registration statement. With respect to satisfying its obligations to the holders of these registration rights, the Company has been in various
situations. The Company had previously filed a registration statement as required for some of the holders, and in May 2011 filed a registration statement for
all of the holders (except for holders whose shares of Common Stock were currently salable under Rule 144 of the Securities Act or who waived certain
rights); such registration statement was declared effective by the SEC on September 30, 2011. The Company has certain obligations to maintain the
effectiveness of this registration statement. Certain holders who had outstanding registration rights had previously waived their registration rights or were
subject to lock-up agreements. No holder has yet asserted any claim against the Company with respect to a failure to satisfy any registration obligations. Were
someone to assert a claim against the Company for breach of registration obligations, the Company believes it has several defenses that would result in
relieving it from some or any liability, although no assurances can be given. The Company also notes that damage claims may be limited, as (i) most shares of
Common Stock as to which registration rights attached are either now registered or currently salable under Rule 144 of the Securities Act or are otherwise
currently subject to other restrictions on sale and (ii) the shares of Common Stock underlying warrants with registration rights are now registered, and during
much of the relevant periods the warrants with registration rights generally have been out of the money, were subject to lock-up agreements and/or the
underlying shares of Common Stock were otherwise subject to restrictions on resale. Accordingly, were holders to assert claims against the Company based
on breach of the Company’s obligation to register, the Company believes that the Company’s maximum exposure would not be material.

Amorcyte line of credit — On May 19, 2006, PCT entered into a line of credit agreement with Amorcyte Inc. (“Amorcyte”), an entity which was spun out
of PCT in 2006, whereby PCT agreed to loan Amorcyte up to $500,000 at an annual interest rate of 5%. The line of credit agreement was a condition to
Amorcyte closing a Series A Preferred Stock Financing completed during 2006. The Company has not loaned any amount to Amorcyte under this agreement
through September 30, 2011. The line of credit agreement expires on the earlier of (i) the date on which the Company declares the outstanding principal and
accrued interest due and payable based on an event of default as defined within the agreement, or (ii) the date of closing of the first debt or equity financing of
Amorcyte following the initial borrowing of the principal. These events have not occurred to date. On October 17, 2011, the Company acquired Amorcyte
pursuant to the Amorcyte Agreement and Plan of Merger, and this line of credit was cancelled. (See Note 4).

Note 14 — Subsequent Events
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In February 2012, the Company raised an aggregate of $2.25 million in a private placement of common stock.
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Exhibit 99.3
NeoStem Announces Quarterly Results and Business Update

NEW YORK, Aug. 14, 2012 (GLOBE NEWSWIRE) -- NeoStem, Inc. (NYSE MKT:NBS) ("NeoStem" or the "Company") today announced second quarter
results and provided a business update. NeoStem is rapidly emerging as a market leader in the fast growing cell therapy market. The Company's multifaceted
business strategy combines a state-of-the-art contract development and manufacturing organization (CDMO) with a medically important cell therapy product
development program providing for near- and long-term revenue growth opportunities.

Business Highlights

»  Since the announcement on June 18t of NeoStem's definitive agreement to divest its majority holdings in Erye and focus on its CDMO and cell
therapy product development businesses, the Company's publicly traded Common Stock price has increased over 50% raising its market cap to $109
million as of August 10, 2012.

»  NeoStem expects to receive $12.3 million in cash and further bolster its balance sheet by removing $35 million in short- and long-term debt
obligations through the divestiture of Erye. Fifty percent of the cash price has now been received directly or is in escrow and closing is expected to
occur over the next 6-10 weeks.

»  Through warrant exercises and equity sales, NeoStem has raised $17.6 million year to date in 2012. Additionally, management has efficiently
managed its use of cash with net cash losses of $9.9 million (see reconciliation below). To further cost savings and effectively service the U.S. and
Canadian markets with timely and responsive services, the Company closed its Boston, MA facility and has consolidated these operations into its
cellular therapy operations in Allendale, NJ (30,000 sq.") and Mountain View, CA (25,000 sq.").

*  Revenues from continuing operations grew 95% for the six months ended June 30, 2012 compared to the prior year period. This growth is primarily
due to the increased overall visibility of Progenitor Cell Therapy ("PCT"), PCT's penetration into the cell therapy marketplace, and enhanced
investment by NeoStem into the business.

*  NeoStem is continuing to enroll patients into the PreSERVE Phase 2 clinical trial in the U.S. for post AMI (acute myocardial infarction) patients and
anticipates completing enrolment in 2013 with 6 months initial data readout near the end of 2013. Peak annual worldwide sales of AMR-001 for this
indication are estimated to be over $1 billion based upon a conservative market penetration of the qualified target patient population.

« NeoStem continues to strengthen its scientific, operations and business management teams, with the recent additions of Martin Schmieg, Vice
President, Corporate Development, and Jonathan Sackner-Bernstein, MD, FACC, Vice President of Clinical Development and Regulatory Affairs.

Progress Report on Erye Divestiture

As of today, NeoStem has received directly or into escrow $6.2 million representing 50% of the total $12.3 million cash purchase price. The divestiture of
Erye will also return approximately 1,040,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock and cancel 1,170,000 Common Stock options and 640,000 Common
Stock warrants.

In addition to receiving $12.3 million in cash to use towards U.S. operations, the divestiture will bolster NeoStem's balance sheet by eliminating over $35
million in short- and long-term debt obligations. The divestiture transaction is expected to close in the next 6-10 weeks, subject to the satisfaction of various
closing conditions including China regulatory approvals, the submission of which is already underway.

The Company's second quarter results include Erye, its Pharmaceutical Manufacturing - China segment, in discontinued operations. Net loss from
discontinued operations attributable to NeoStem common shareholder interests for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 was $13.4 million and $14.8
million, respectively, or $0.10 and $0.12 per share, compared to $0.5 million and $0.8 million, or $0.01 and $0.01 per share for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2011. The loss attributable to NeoStem common shareholders for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 included the Company's 51%
share of a total $28.0 million non-cash, asset impairment charge, based on the definitive agreement purchase price.

The Erye divestiture allows the Company to hone its focus on its cell therapy clinical development programs and the PCT CDMO commercial business.
Results of Continued Operations for the Three Months and Six Months Ended June 30, 2012
Continuing operations consist of the Company's cellular therapy business in the United States.

Revenues from continuing operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 were $3.4 million and $7.1 million, respectively, compared to $2.2
million and $3.7 million for the same periods in 2011. The increase in revenue, representing a 95% revenue growth for the six months ended June 30, 2012
compared to the prior year period, was primarily driven by clinical service revenues in the Company's PCT subsidiary, and reflected an increased overall
visibility of PCT and penetration into the cell therapy marketplace, along with a general increase in the development of autologous cell therapies in the United
States due to enhanced investment and expanded marketing programs in 2011 and 2012.



PCT's industry role is to be a problem solver (consultant), implementation expert and cGMP manufacturing service provider from product discovery to
commercialization for product developers. In its thirteen year history, PCT has supported over one hundred regenerative medicine companies and NeoStem
anticipates growth in the United States and abroad by expansion into Europe.

Net loss from continuing operations attributable to NeoStem common shareholder interests for the three and six months ended June 30, 2012 was $7.2 million
and $15.2 million, respectively, or $0.05 and $0.12 per share, compared to $10.1 million and $20.2 million, or $0.13 and $0.26 per share for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2011. The Company's loss from continuing operations for six months ended June 30, 2012, excluding non-cash charges, was $9.9
million (see reconciliation below).

NeoStem Current and Projected Financial Position

As of June 30, 2012, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $2.1 million, and an additional $2.5 million in cash held in escrow (classified in Other
Assets). Since the close of the second quarter, the Company raised an additional $7 million through warrant exercises and private placements of restricted
securities. In addition, the Company expects to receive a total of $12.3 million from the sale of its ownership in Erye, providing additional forecasted cash
inflows without further dilution in the second half of 2012.

AMR-001 Cardiovascular Product Pipeline

NeoStem management believes that cell therapy is a disruptive technology in the $50 billion worldwide regenerative medicine market. NeoStem's autologous
adult stem cell therapy (AMR-001) is designed to prevent major cardiac events following acute myocardial infarction (AMI), or what is commonly referred to
as a heart attack.

NeoStem is currently conducting its PreSERVE Phase 2 clinical trial in the U.S. Many key opinion leaders in the scientific, medical and investment
communities consider AMR-001 to be best in class. Company management anticipates completing Phase 2 patient enrolment in 2013 with six months initial
data readout near the end of 2013. Peak annual worldwide sales of AMR-001 for this indication could exceed $1 billion based upon a conservative market
penetration of its qualified target patient population. AMR-001 is protected by two issued and multiple pending U.S. patents with corresponding patent
coverage in selected markets around the world.

The Amorcyte AMR-001 product development program also extends to congestive heart failure (CHF). The Company is preparing to launch its CHF Phase 1
clinical trials in early 2013. The worldwide CHF patient population is estimated to be four times larger than that of AMI.

Summary

The opportunity for existing and new NeoStem shareholders is substantial. In the midst of global economic uncertainty, NeoStem has assembled a
multifaceted business plan that can drive top revenue growth through its PCT CDMO business while investing in dynamic cell therapy development
programs. The Company's service business and pipeline of proprietary cell therapy products work synergistically, giving NeoStem a competitive advantage
that is unique in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries. Supported by an experienced scientific and business management team and a dynamic
patent and patent pending intellectual property portfolio, NeoStem is well-positioned for future success. Company management will continue to seek business
opportunities that will strengthen the Company and looks forward to achieving success for its investors with the goal of being a multibillion dollar
biopharmaceutical company.

GAAP to Non-GAAP Reconciliations for the six months ended June 30, 2012

Net Loss from Continuing Operations Excluding Non-Cash Charges Reconciliation

Loss from continuing operations $(15,217,102)
Common stock, stock options and warrants issued 3,555,011
Depreciation and amortization 774,773
Amortization of preferred stock discount and issuance cost 872,736
Changes in fair value of derivative liability (111,517)
Bad debt expense 233,800
Consolidated Net Loss Excluding Non-Cash Charges $(9,892,299)

For more information on NeoStem, please visit www.neostem.com.

Forward-Looking Statements for NeoStem, Inc.



This press release contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking
statements reflect management's current expectations, as of the date of this press release, and involve certain risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking
statements include statements herein with respect to the successful execution of the Company's business strategy, including with respect to the Company's or
its partners' successful development of AMR-001 and other cell therapeutics, the size of the market for such products, its competitive position in such
markets, the Company's ability to successfully penetrate such markets and the market for its CDMO business, and the efficacy of protection from its patent
portfolio, as well as the future of the cell therapeutics industry in general, including the rate at which such industry may grow. Forward looking statements
also include statements with respect to satisfying all conditions to closing the disposition of Erye, including receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals in
the PRC. The Company's actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward- looking statements as a result of various factors,
including but not limited to (i) the Company's ability to manage its business despite operating losses and cash outflows, (ii) its ability to obtain sufficient
capital or strategic business arrangement to fund its operations, including the clinical trials for AMR-001, (iii) successful results of the Company's clinical
trials of AMR-001 and other cellular therapeutic products that may be pursued, (iv) demand for and market acceptance of AMR-001 or other cell therapies if
clinical trials are successful and the Company is permitted to market such products, (v) establishment of a large global market for cellular-based products, (vi)
the impact of competitive products and pricing, (vii) the impact of future scientific and medical developments, (viii) the Company's ability to obtain
appropriate governmental licenses and approvals and, in general, future actions of regulatory bodies, including the FDA and foreign counterparts, (ix)
reimbursement and rebate policies of government agencies and private payers, (x) the Company's ability to protect its intellectual property; (xi) the company's
ability to successfully divest its interest in Erye, .and (xii) matters described under the "Risk Factors" in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 20, 2012 and in the Company's other periodic filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
all of which are available on its website. The Company does not undertake to update is forward-looking statements. The Company's further development is
highly dependent on future medical and research developments and market acceptance, which is outside its control.
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